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SECTION 1 – Letter from the Cardinal 

My Dear Friends in Christ, 

     We are pleased to share with you the 2016 Annual Report for the Archdiocese of 
Boston.  Through the leadership of the Most Rev. Peter Uglietto, Vicar General, Mr. 
John Straub, Chancellor, and the dedicated efforts of our employees, the Archdiocese 
is able to continue to meet high standards and transparency and accountability.  We 
are grateful to our generous benefactors, the people of our 289 parishes throughout 
Eastern Massachusetts and the wider communities we serve for their support and 
participation in the mission of the Church. 

     As the Archdiocese moves forward with Disciples in Mission, our pastoral plan, it 
is encouraging that many parishioners are assisting the process through consultations, 
by sharing their professional expertise and by offering recommendations as the 
planning is developed on an ongoing basis.  This collaboration of the people we serve 
is an important contribution to the work of ensuring fiscal stability and careful 
stewardship of our resources.    

   The mission of the Church is based in Jesus’ call for us to love one another.  We 
seek to bring the presence of the Lord to all people and to do so in a responsible and 
sustainable manner.  With the help of God, we are blessed to be able to renew the 
commitment to the work of building up the Church in the Archdiocese of Boston.     

With the assurance of my prayers for you and all your loved ones, I am, 

Sincerely yours in Christ, 

Archbishop of Boston 
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SECTION 2 – Chancellor’s Annual Overview 

John E. Straub, Chancellor 

Secretary for Financial and Administrative Services 

This Annual Financial Report presented for review includes financial results for the Roman Catholic 

Archbishop of Boston, A Corporation Sole (RCAB) for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2016. Corporation 

Sole is comprised of three reporting units: (1) Parishes, (2) Central Operations, and (3) Self-Insurance. 

Central Operations, in turn, is comprised of three parts: (1) Central Ministries, including restricted funds, 

(2) Parish Reconfiguration, and (3) Special Collections.  This report provides the financial position and 

changes in net assets, fulfilling an ongoing commitment to financial transparency. This financial 

information and that of RCAB’s related organizations can be found on the Archdiocesan website, 

www.bostoncatholic.org, by clicking on the “Annual Report” link at the top of the home page. 

ALIGNING CENTRAL MINISTRIES WITH DISCIPLES IN MISSION 

During fiscal 2016, a leadership team appointed by Cardinal Seán oversaw an effort to evaluate the 

structure and resourcing of Central Ministries.  It was widely recognized that the organizational structure 

of Central Ministries had been in place for many years, long before Disciples in Mission was launched. 

The guiding principles for recommendations were alignment of activities with parish collaborative 

priorities, and a balance of efforts between revenue enhancement and expense reduction. The leadership 

team has presented its recommendations to Cardinal Seán. Those recommendations identified cost 

reduction actions, revenue enhancement opportunities, areas requiring additional investment, and some 

organizational/location realignment. 

Many of the cost reduction actions are already underway, including a hiring freeze, savings gained 

through attrition, rollout of a voluntary early retirement program and building cost efficiencies such as 

conversion to LED lighting, which led to a reduction of nearly all Central Ministries Operating budgets 

for fiscal 2017.  

A number of revenue opportunities are also being explored, including increasing the density of 

Archdiocesan entities in Pastoral Center space, and leasing other targeted space in the Pastoral Center 

building.  Several Catholic Charities employees have already relocated to the Pastoral Center, following 

the expiration of their lease in Boston, and another related entity, the Labor Guild, has moved into the 

building during the past fiscal year.  These arrangements not only are cost effective for the entities 

involved, but also provide opportunities for greater interaction among the various agencies. The 

development of the unused parking lot adjacent to the Pastoral Center building is also being explored, 

along with development of a solar array program to reduce energy costs and create a revenue stream.  

There are a number of opportunities to leverage the work and investment of Central Ministries 

departments through cooperation with other dioceses.  An example of this is the potential to expand 

diocesan participation in insurance programs, compliance activities, and related risk management 

activities developed and sponsored by the Archdiocese of Boston.  The Archdiocese has also received a 

number of inquiries from other dioceses that may be interested in procuring some of the materials and 
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programs that have been developed for Disciples in Mission.  These are just a few examples of ways to 

more effectively impact the Central Ministries budget without exclusively focusing on cost reduction. 

Programs that have been developed to assist parishes in achieving sustainable annual contributed income 

are ongoing.  Both increased offertory programs and greater use of the “in pew” process for the Catholic 

Appeal, which enable parishes to receive a greater share of Appeal revenue, have been effective ways for 

parishes to increase their revenues. Central Ministries shares in the benefits of these programs, with 

stronger parish revenue positively impacting the Improved Financial Relationship Model (IFRM). That 

model, which is now ten years old, will also undergo a review to determine if an update is needed.  

Disciples in Mission is a major program that was not in existence when that model was developed, so it is 

timely to revisit the model.   

Beyond focusing on areas where cost reduction is needed, the leadership team appointed by Cardinal Seán 

identified some key programs where additional investment is required. In particular, establishment of a 

common digital technology platform across Central Ministries and parishes is considered to be an 

important tool to engage people in discipleship, particularly younger Catholics. During the past year, a 

platform was selected, and the architecture design, content development and roll out strategy are focus 

areas for fiscal 2017.  

Another element of the Central Ministries review was to re-evaluate the location of the ministries 

currently located at the Pastoral Center.  With certain ministries redirecting their energies away from the 

Pastoral Center towards parishes, their mission may be served more effectively within a parish setting, 

furthering the goals of evangelization. It was also determined that the regional auxiliary bishops would 

undertake pastor assignments within a parish, bringing them closer to the people they serve.  

These organizational actions are intended to balance concerns about the financial position of the 

Archdiocese, in particular Central Ministries, while revitalizing activities that directly support parishes 

and Disciples in Mission. 

BEST PRACTICES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS FOR PARISHES AND AFFILIATED 

ORGANIZATIONS 

Central Ministries continues its work of promoting best practices across the Archdiocese.  The use of 

tamper-proof bags for securing the offertory is in place at over 80% of all parishes.  Cyber risk 

assessments have been completed at a number of parishes as well as Central Ministries, with 

implementation of recommendations underway. Training programs for parish financial personnel as well 

as pastors have focused on best practices for internal control with limited staff.  These activities are 

intended to strengthen the internal control environment and improve stewardship of assets. 

The Archdiocese follows generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). Accordingly, the 

Archdiocesan financial statements are prepared on an accrual basis of accounting. To provide the 

Archdiocese with reasonable assurance that its financial resources are safeguarded against waste, loss and 

misuse, and that reliable accounting and financial data are timely, complete, relevant, accurate and fairly 

disclosed in reports, the Archdiocese has in place a system of internal controls. These internal controls 

provide the Archdiocese with financial and accounting records from which financial statements are 
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prepared. The Archdiocese's accounting, finance and internal audit functions maintain oversight of the 

key areas of the Archdiocesan business and financial processes and controls. In addition, the 

Archdiocese's Finance Council’s Audit Committee plays an important role in the oversight of the internal 

control structure. This committee meets with senior staff of the Archdiocese and has regular 

communication with the Archdiocese's independent certified public accountants, Grant Thornton, LLP. 

Management has reviewed the Archdiocese's current controls and procedures and believes that such 

controls and procedures provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and accuracy of the financial 

statements, in all material respects. The concept of reasonable assurance is based on management’s 

assessment of financial risk as well as the recognition that the cost of controls should not exceed the 

relative benefit of such controls, and requires estimates and judgment by management. 

ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY 

Included again this year with the release of this report is the Compensation and Vendor Expenditure 

Disclosure which is similar to many of the disclosures that most non-religious non-profit organizations 

provide on the Internal Revenue Service Form 990. Corporation Sole is not required to file a Form 990. 

We are also providing the fiscal 2016 report of the Compensation Committee of the Finance Council.  

In fiscal 2011, a formal Code of Conduct and Conflict of Interest Policy (Code), which communicates key 

guidelines and assists in making ethical decisions that are in accordance with applicable legal 

requirements and other Archdiocesan policies, was developed and distributed to all Council Members, 

Committees, Cabinet Members and employees of the Pastoral Center. Additionally, the Archdiocese 

continues to use EthicsPoint Inc. to host a telephone and internet site which serve as a confidential hotline 

service for sources to anonymously report violations of the Code. Each of these steps demonstrates a 

continued commitment to provide maximum transparency of the day-to-day operations of the 

Archdiocese. 

CONCLUSION 

Many thanks to all of the Clergy, Religious and laity who assist Cardinal Seán and his leadership team by 

serving faithfully on committees and councils that assist the financial management team, including 

Cardinal Seán’s Cabinet and the Finance Council and its subcommittees. 

John E. Straub, Chancellor 

Secretary for Financial and Administrative Services 
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SECTION 3 – Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Position and Results of Activities

Discussion & Analysis of the Financial Statements 

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the Chancellor’s 

Annual Overview contained in Section 2 of this report, along with the fiscal year 2016 financial 

statements, supplementary schedules, and report of independent certified public accountants 

contained in Section 4 of this financial report. Dollar amounts are presented in this Section 3 in 

millions for ease of viewing the graphical information. Dollar amounts in the financial 

statements are presented in thousands. 

Introduction 

The Roman Catholic Archbishop of Boston, A Corporation Sole (the “Corporation Sole”), is a 

legal entity created under Massachusetts civil law in 1897 to provide the Roman Catholic 

Archbishop of Boston with a means to operate within the public statutes of the Commonwealth 

of Massachusetts. The Corporation Sole, as an entity, is distinguishable from the Roman 

Catholic Archbishop of Boston whose powers and responsibilities are established by Canon 

Law. 

The financial statements of the Corporation Sole are grouped into three reporting units: the 

activities of all parishes located within the Archdiocese (“Parishes”), the central administrative 

activities and programs of the Archdiocese (“Central Operations”) and the Archdiocese self-

insurance programs (“Self-Insurance”).  The Parishes reporting unit includes the 289 parishes 

of the Archdiocese and the 65 schools and 42 cemeteries operated by these parishes.  The 

Parishes reporting unit also includes the activities of the Revolving Loan Fund as well as the 

net unfunded liabilities of the Clergy Retirement Trust, the Clergy Medical/Hospitalization 

Trust, the Clergy Benefit Funding Trust and the Regina Cleri Trust (collectively, the 

Archdiocese of Boston Clergy Health and Retirement Trust (“CHRT”)). It should be noted that 

the financial activities of the CHRT, other than the net unfunded liabilities, are not included in 

the Corporation Sole financial statements. The Central Operations reporting unit includes the 

activities of Central Ministries, Restricted Funds, Parish Reconfiguration and Special 

Collections. 

The Archbishop of Boston, by virtue of his office, serves as chairman or president of numerous 

separately incorporated Catholic organizations that operate within the Archdiocese of Boston.  

While these organizations are considered to be related organizations of the Corporation Sole, 

they are not under the direct control of the Corporation Sole and, accordingly, their financial 

activities are not presented as part of the Corporation Sole’s financial statements.  In addition, 

the net unfunded liability and activities of the lay pension plan, which operates under a separate 

trust, are not required to be and therefore are not presented as part of the Corporation Sole 

financial statements because several other Catholic organizations participate in this plan.  The 

listing of the related organizations that operate within the Archdiocese of Boston is included in 

Section 7 of this financial report.  
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The financial statement highlights for fiscal 2016 listed below summarize the financial position 

and activities of the Corporation Sole as of and for the year ended June 30, 2016.  

Fiscal 2016 Financial Highlights 

 Net assets decreased from $673.0 million to $661.2 million, an $11.8 million or 1.8%

decrease as compared to fiscal 2015, primarily as a result of the following:

o Parish net assets decreased by $2.4 million, Central Operations net assets

decreased by $10.0 million and Self-Insurance net assets increased by $0.6

million.

o A nonoperating loss primarily related to non-cash clergy pension charges,

investment returns and sale of land and buildings drove the decrease in the

parish net assets, while an operating loss drove the Central Operations decrease.

o The Combined Statement of Activities explains the changes in net assets

including net asset transfers.

 Fiscal 2016 reflects an operating loss of $5.6 million as compared to an operating loss of

$5.1 million in fiscal 2015, resulting in an increase in loss of $0.5 million.  Revenues

increased by $2.0 million, while expenses increased $2.5 million.

 Nonoperating income/loss decreased from income of $39.5 million in 2015 to a loss of

$6.2 million in 2016, a $45.7 million change year over year. This change was primarily

due to non-cash clergy pension charges of $17.5 million in fiscal 2016 compared to credits

of $12.2 million in fiscal 2015, net realized and unrealized loss on investments of $8.4

million in fiscal 2016 compared to a loss of $1.9 million in fiscal 2015 and gain on sale of

land and buildings of $8.5 million in fiscal 2016 compared to $17.7 million in fiscal 2015.

o The clergy pension change can be partially attributed to a $10.3 million actuarial

loss due to the decrease in discount rate as compared to fiscal 2015. This

included a 63 basis point decrease in the discount rate applied to the pension

portion of the obligation from 4.49% to 3.86% and a 75 basis point decrease in

the discount rate applied to the medical portion of the obligation from 4.81% to

4.06%. The negative impact of a $7.2 million investment loss also contributed to

the year over year change. The fiscal 2015 credits included a $1.3 million credit

attributed to a 19 basis point increase in the discount rate applied to the pension

obligation and a $10.9 million credit related to the transfer of the Archdiocese of

Boston’s interest in Regina Cleri, Inc. to the Regina Cleri Trust.

 Total assets decreased from $857.9 million in fiscal 2015 to $846.6 million in fiscal 2016,

an $11.3 million or 1.3% decrease. This can be largely attributed to increases in

contributions receivable of $5.3 million and loans and notes receivable of $3.8 million,

offset by a decrease in investments of $22.2 million.

 The total return for the Common Investment Fund was a loss of -4.4%, following a gain of

1.8% in fiscal 2015.

 Net unfunded clergy pension and post retirement obligations of $70.0 million and $36.4

million in debt owed to St. John’s Seminary represent the significant long-term liabilities.

 Central Operations revenues and other support decreased $0.6 million compared to fiscal

2015, while expenses increased $1.5 million. This resulted in an operating loss of $9.4

million in fiscal 2016, or a $2.1 million increase in loss, as compared to a $7.3 million

operating loss in fiscal 2015.
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 The Corporation Sole recognized $4.2 million in expenses to settle claims related to sexual

abuse and to fund abuse prevention programs, outreach and other costs as compared to

$4.8 million in fiscal 2015.

Certain highlights are explained more fully in response to the “Key Discussion Points” that 

follow. 
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Key Discussion Points 

1) Operating Activities-Revenues

The table below summarizes the comparable revenues, gains and other support for fiscal 2016 

and 2015. 

Overall, total operating revenues increased $2.0 million or 0.5% as compared to fiscal 2015. 

Parish collections and other fundraising revenues increased $0.8 million or 0.5% as compared 

to fiscal 2015. Those revenues include offertory collections, the Clergy Benefit Trust 

collections, other special collections, parish fundraiser events and sacramental offerings.   

The Catholic Appeal increased from $14.8 million in fiscal 2015 to $15.8 million, a $1.0 

million or 6.8% increase. 

Contributions and bequests increased from $28.6 million in fiscal 2015 to $32.0 million, a $3.4 

million or 11.9% increase.  

Investment income decreased from $6.5 million in fiscal 2015 to $5.9 million in fiscal 2016, a 

decrease of 9.2%.  Investment income includes the yield from the Fixed Income Fund, other 

investments and the 1% quarterly distribution made from the Common Investment Fund to its 

members (primarily parishes).   

Parish

collections and

other fundraising

Tuition and fees Catholic Appeal
Contributions

and bequests

Investment

income

Rental and

revenue from

services provided

including

Cemetery

Operations

Other revenue,

change in

interest of a

foundation

2016 $151.7 $108.1 $15.8 $32.0 $5.9 $25.6 $8.5

2015 $150.9 $108.2 $14.8 $28.6 $6.5 $25.4 $11.2

 $-

 $20

 $40

 $60

 $80

 $100

 $120

 $140

Corporation Sole
Revenue & Other Support Categories

(in millions)
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Net realized and unrealized loss on investments increased from $1.9 million in fiscal 2015 to a 

$8.4 million in fiscal 2016 and is included in nonoperating revenues in the statement of 

activities.  The overall decrease in total return reflected the market volatility over the fiscal 

period, which began with the devaluation of China’s currency, and concluded with the 

referendum vote in the United Kingdom to leave the European Union. The net negative total 

return from the Common Investment Fund was largely a result of losses in US small cap 

equities, emerging markets, and international developed markets, all of which had negative 

benchmark indices for the fiscal year 2016.  

Other revenues decreased by $2.7 million from $11.2 million in fiscal 2015 to $8.5 million in 

fiscal 2016. Other revenues consist primarily of all parish and school revenue that does not fall 

into other categories that come from a variety of sources including youth/adult ministries and 

cafeteria sales. That category also includes the change in interest in net assets of a foundation, 

which decreased by $2.5 million as compared to fiscal 2015 due to investment performance at 

The Catholic Community Fund of the Archdiocese of Boston, Inc. 

2) Operating Activities-Expenses

Overall operating expenses increased $2.5 million, or 0.7% in fiscal 2016. The composition of 

Corporation Sole's program and other expenses, which are incurred primarily at the parish level 

includes: 

Corporation Sole

Program and other operating expenses

(in millions)

2016 2015

Parish life and leadership 179.2$          182.1$          

Catholic education 131.1 127.1 

Faith formation and evangelization 4.6 4.8 

Health and social services 5.1 4.0 

Central and regional services 3.9 3.7 

Media and public relations 0.6 0.7 

Cemetery operations 4.8 4.6 

Total program expenses 329.3 327.0 

Management and general 19.7 19.4 

Fundraising 2.8 2.9 

Parish reconfiguration 1.4 1.4 

Total other expenses 23.9 23.7 

Total operating expenses 353.2$       350.7$       
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Parish life and leadership expense decreased $2.9 million or 1.6%. Fiscal 2016 expenses 

included a $2.5 million increase in parish payroll and benefits relating to merit increases and 

benefit cost increases. Due to the mild winter as compared to the prior year, expenses relating 

to heat and utilities decreased by $2.9 million and those related to snow removal/maintenance 

decreased $1.6 million. Non-cash depreciation and pension related charges also decreased $0.4 

million from fiscal 2015 to fiscal 2016. 

Catholic education expense increased $4.0 million or 3.1%. Fiscal 2016 expenses included a 

$2.7 million increase in school payroll and benefits relating to merit increases and benefit cost 

increases. $1.2 million was expended on new programs and initiatives across the network of 

Catholic schools related to student testing, a school information system, and exceptional 

learners, early education, leadership and professional development programs. A portion of the 

funding for these programs was provided through grants received from the Catholic Schools 

Foundation. 

Health and social services expense increased from $4.0 million in fiscal 2015 to $5.1 million in 

fiscal 2016, a $1.1 million or 27.5% increase.  This is largely attributed to distributions of $1.4 

million to Catholic Charities from estate proceeds. Fiscal 2015 included the $0.4 million 

distribution of the January 2015 social ministries collection, which benefited Catholic 

Charities, St. Mary’s Center for Women and Children and St. Anne’s Home. A similar 

collection was not taken up in fiscal 2016. 

3) Assets

Total assets were $846.6 million and $857.9 million at June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. 

Cash and cash

equivalents

Prepaid

expenses and

other assets

Accounts

receivable, net

Contributions

receivable, net

Loans and

notes

receivable, net

Investments

Interest in net

assets of a

foundation

Land, buildings

and equipment,

net

2016 $79.4 $13.3 $6.6 $7.7 $19.8 $169.7 $32.9 $517.2

2015 $82.4 $12.0 $6.9 $2.4 $16.0 $191.9 $35.8 $510.5

 $-

 $100

 $200

 $300

 $400

 $500

 $600

Corporation Sole - Total Assets
(in millions)
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Explanation of changes - Fiscal 2016 versus Fiscal 2015 

Assets decreased in total by $11.3 million. Contributions receivable increased $5.3 million 

including increases of $3.8 million related to parish capital campaigns and $1.7 million related 

to irrevocable bequests. 

Loans and notes receivable increased $3.8 million due to additional loans by the Revolving 

Loan Fund to related organizations. 

The $22.2 million decrease in investments was driven by redemptions of $19.0 million from the 

Fixed Income Fund by the Revolving Loan Fund to support the savings and loan needs of our 

parishes, schools, cemeteries and related organizations. 

4) Liabilities

Total liabilities were $185.4 million and $184.8 million at June 30, 2016 and 2015, 

respectively.  

** Please note: As appropriate under US GAAP, liabilities do not include the Corporation 

Sole’s portion of the net unfunded liability of the lay pension plan in the amount of $32.0 

million. 

Accrued clergy

pension & other

retirement

costs**

Notes payable
Deferred revenue

& support

Accounts payable

& accrued

expenses

Reserve for

losses

Due to related

organization
Other l iabilities

2016 $70.0 $36.4 $17.9 $23.5 $8.3 $16.9 $12.4

2015 $62.9 $36.4 $20.1 $26.1 $8.5 $19.5 $11.3

 $-

 $10

 $20

 $30

 $40

 $50

 $60

 $70

 $80

Corporation Sole - Total Liabilities**
(in millions)
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Explanation of changes - Fiscal 2016 versus Fiscal 2015 

Liabilities increased in total by $0.6 million. Accrued clergy pension and other retirement costs 

increased by $7.1 million.  A decrease in the discount rates and actual investment performance 

compared to expected investment performance led to the increase in the net unfunded liability. 

Net unfunded clergy pension and post retirement obligations total $70.0 million at June 30, 

2016 and are included in Corporation Sole’s liabilities. 

As noted in the introduction, the net unfunded liability of the lay pension plan, which operates 

under a separate trust as a multi-employer plan, is not required to be and therefore is not 

included in the Corporation Sole’s liabilities because several other Catholic organizations 

participate in the plan. At June 30, 2016, the unfunded liability totaled $45.5 million. The 

estimated portion of Corporation Sole’s liability totals $32.0 million. 

Deferred revenue and support decreased $2.2 million primarily due to a reduction in deferred 

tuition relating to the timing of payments.  

Accounts payable and accrued expenses decreased $2.6 million primarily due to a reduction in 

the year end payroll accrual due to the timing of those payrolls as compared to the prior year.  

Amounts due to related organizations decreased by $2.6 million, the majority of which relates 

to a reduction of deposits held in the Revolving Loan Fund on behalf of related organizations. 

The Corporation Sole maintains an $8.0 million unsecured line of credit agreement at the 

bank’s prime rate minus 1.3% (1.95% at June 30, 2016) to support Central Ministries activities. 

Borrowings on the line totaled $5.2 million during fiscal 2016. The line was paid off in June 

2016. Borrowings were used to satisfy cash flow needs due to seasonal fluctuations in Catholic 

Appeal receipts and other revenues. Under the terms of the agreement, the Corporation Sole is 

required to pay down the line once during each twelve-month period such that it carries a zero 

balance for at least thirty consecutive days. The Corporation Sole satisfied that requirement in 

July 2016. The line of credit is subject to an annual review on February 28, 2017 and 

continuing on the same date each year thereafter. Upon the annual review, the bank at its sole 

discretion, may agree to extend the term of the line of credit or demand payment. Based upon 

management’s review of fiscal 2017 cash flow projections, the existing line will satisfy Central 

Ministries needs and the terms of the line of credit agreement will be satisfied. 

Page 16 of 84



5) Central Operations: Performance vs. Prior year

 Below is a comparison of Central Operations operating activities with the prior year. 

The decrease in revenues and other support of $0.6 million was driven by increases in the 

Catholic Appeal of $1.0 million, collections, contributions and bequests of $0.4 million and 

other revenues of $0.2 million.  These increases were offset by a decrease in the change in 

Corporation Sole - Central Operations

Summary of Operating Activities

Fiscal years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015

(in millions)

2016 2015

Revenue & Other Support

Catholic Appeal 15.8$       14.8$       

Collections, contributions, bequests and grants 5.8           5.4           

Investment, interest and rental income 1.7           1.8           

Revenue from services provided and other revenue 13.1         12.9         

Change in interest in net assets of a foundation (2.7) (0.6) 

Total revenues & other support 33.7         34.3         

Expenses:

Parish life and leadership 5.2           5.7           

Catholic education 3.2           1.4           

Faith formation and evangelization 4.7           4.8           

Health and social services 2.6           1.6           

Central and regional services 4.0           3.8           

Media and public relations 0.6           0.7           

Total program expenses 20.3         18.0         

Management and general 18.5         19.2         

Fundraising 2.8           2.9           

Parish reconfiguration 1.5           1.5           

Total expenses 43.1         41.6         

Operating loss (9.4)$        (7.3)$        
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interest in net assets of a foundation of $2.1 million, which was due to unfavorable investment 

performance at the foundation. 

Expenses increased by $1.5 million. Parish Life and Leadership expense decreased $0.5 million 

driven by a $0.4 million decrease in administrative leave pension related charges. Catholic 

Education increased $1.8 million including $1.2 million expended on new programs and 

initiatives as discussed earlier and distributions to our schools of $0.4 million related to the 

January 2016 Catholic schools collection. A similar collection was not taken up in fiscal 2015. 

Faith Formation and Evangelization decreased $0.1 million. As noted earlier, Health and Social 

Services expenses were up $1.1 million largely due to the $1.4 million distribution to Catholic 

Charities. The increases in expense were offset by decreases in Faith Formation and 

Evangelization of $0.1 million, Media and Public Relations of $0.1 million, Management and 

General of $0.7 million and fundraising expense of $0.1 million.   

The components of Management and General expense are noted in the table below. 

Professional, legal and audit expenses decreased $0.5 million due to decreases in Information 

Technology contract services of $0.3 million and General Counsel contract services of $0.2 

million. Building operations and maintenance expense decreased $0.2 million due to the mild 

winter as compared to the prior year. 

Corporation Sole - Central Operations

Management and general expenses are comprised of:

(in millions)

2016 2015

Professional, legal & audit 2.7$        3.2$        

Chancellor's office, Finance, Information Technology, Parish financial services, 6.8          6.8          

Insurance, Human Resources and Benefits

Building operations & maintenance 1.4          1.7          

Facility & real estate management 0.6          0.6          

General corporate 3.0          3.0          

Parish support 2.3          2.2          

Interest, depreciation & allowance 1.7          1.7          

Total 18.5$      19.2$      
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6) Parish Reconfiguration Fund activities

The Parish Reconfiguration Fund is included in the Central Operations reporting unit. Please 

see Note 5 of the financial statements located in Section 4 of the Annual Report for additional 

information regarding the fund. 

Operating activities include revenue of $0.1 million and $1.9 million in expenses principally 

for property management, maintenance, insurance, utilities and real estate taxes. 

Nonoperating activities include net gains from the sale of properties of $3.7 million. This 

relates to the sales of the Our Lady of Mount Carmel – East Boston and Sacred Heart - Natick 

properties. Support to parishes totaled $3.2 million.  

Below is a summary statement of changes in net assets for the Parish Reconfiguration Fund as 

extracted from within Central Operations. 

Corporation Sole - Central Operations - Parish Reconfiguration Fund

Summary of Changes in Net Assets

June 30, 2016

(in millions)

Total

Designated Net Assets at beginning of period 5.6$         
Net asset transfers -

Operating activities:

Revenues 0.1           

Expenses (1.9) 

Net operating loss (1.8) 

Nonoperating activities:

Gain on sale of land, buildings & equipment 3.7           

Support to related organizations (3.2) 

Total nonoperating gain 0.5           

Designated Net Assets at end of period 4.3$         
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Below is a summary statement of financial position for the Parish Reconfiguration Fund at June 

30, 2016 and 2015 respectively. 

Corporation Sole - Central Operations - Parish Reconfiguration Fund

Summary of Statement of Financial Position

June 30, 2016 and 2015

(in millions)

2016 2015

Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 2.8$         3.2$         

Land and building held for sale 0.3           0.3           

Loans receivable, net 1.6           1.8           

Due from related organization - 0.6           

Land, buildings and equipment, net 1.0           1.2           

Total assets 5.7           7.1           

Liabilities:

Accounts payable & accrued expenses 0.1           0.1           

Deferred revenue 1.3           1.4           

Total liabilities 1.4           1.5           

Net Assets Unrestricted:

Designated for Parish Reconfiguration 4.3           5.6           

Total liabilities & net assets 5.7$         7.1$         
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7) Funding for Abuse Settlements and Related Costs

Costs Related to Pastoral Response, Abuse Prevention and Settlements Related to Sexual 

Abuse 

In fiscal 2016, the Corporation Sole expended $2.68 million associated with administering 

abuse prevention efforts and funding outreach to promote healing and reconciliation among 

survivors and others harmed by sexual abuse.  This includes the expenses incurred by three 

principal offices of the Archdiocese: the Office of Background Screening (which conducts 

annual CORI checks of clergy, employees and volunteers), the Office of Child Advocacy, 

Implementation, and Oversight (which oversees abuse prevention training), and the Office of 

Pastoral Support and Outreach (which administers the program of the Archdiocese to fund 

therapy and related services to survivors of abuse).  Under the program administered by the 

Office of Pastoral Support and Outreach, the Archdiocese funds regular therapy and related 

medications. This support is available whether or not the survivor has brought a claim against 

the Archdiocese, and continues to be available after a claim has been settled.  In fiscal 2016, the 

program funded therapy and related medications for 320 individuals at a cost of $1.63 million. 

During fiscal 2016, the total amount expended by the Corporation Sole to settle claims arising 

from sexual abuse was $1.04 million.  This represents payments on 16 claims.  

In addition to the moneys paid in settlements and the costs of its pastoral response and abuse 

prevention programs, the Corporation Sole incurred an additional $480,000 in costs to respond 

to and facilitate the settlement of sexual abuse claims during the past fiscal year.  These costs 

were comprised principally of legal costs as well as expenses for mediation and arbitration. 

Taking into account the total cost of the sexual abuse settlements ($1.04 million) as well as the 

costs incurred by the Corporation Sole related to the abuse prevention, outreach and other costs 

($3.16 million), the Corporation Sole expended a total of $4.2 million during fiscal 2016. 

Sources of Funds 

Consistent with past practices, parish funds, money raised from the Promise for Tomorrow 

Campaign, the Annual Catholic Appeal and proceeds from the parish reconfiguration process 

are not being used to fund settlements. 

In fiscal 2016, the Corporation Sole, through the Self-Insurance fund, expended $71,000 to 

fund settlements related to sexual abuse claims and a portion of the mediation costs related to 

the claims.  

During fiscal 2016, the Corporation Sole, through Central Operations, used $1.32 million (net 

of insurance recoveries) to fund settlements related to sexual abuse claims and a portion of the 

legal fees and mediation costs related to claims. The Corporation Sole also received insurance 

recoveries and other reimbursements of $129,000 that were used to fund settlements.  

During fiscal 2016, Central Operations also provided $2.68 million of funding to cover the 

expenses associated with administering abuse prevention efforts and outreach to promote 

healing and reconciliation among survivors and others harmed by sexual abuse.   
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

His Eminence 

Cardinal Sean Patrick O’Malley, O.F.M. Cap. 

The Roman Catholic Archbishop of Boston 

 

 

We have audited the accompanying combined financial statements of the Roman Catholic Archbishop of Boston, a 

Corporation Sole (the “Corporation Sole”), which comprise the combined statements of financial position as of 

June 30, 2016 and 2015, and the related combined statements of activities and cash flows for the years then ended, 

and the related notes to the combined financial statements. 

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these combined financial statements in 

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, 

implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of  combined 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s responsibility  

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these combined financial statements based on our audits.  We 

conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.  

Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 

combined financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

combined financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the combined financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  

In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to Corporation Sole’s preparation 

and fair presentation of the combined financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 

in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Corporation Sole’s 

internal control.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 

of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as 

well as evaluating the overall presentation of the combined financial statements. 

 
 

Grant Thornton LLP 
75 State Street, 13th Floor 
Boston, MA 02109 
 

T 617.723.7900 
F 617.723.3640 
www.GrantThornton.com 
linkd.in/GrantThorntonUS  
twitter.com/GrantThorntonUS  

 

 

 

Grant Thornton LLP 
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 

opinion.  

Opinion  

In our opinion, the combined financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 

financial position of the Roman Catholic Archbishop of Boston, a Corporation Sole, as of June 30, 2016 and 2015, 

and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles 

generally accepted in the United States of America. 

 
 

Boston, Massachusetts 

December 22, 2016 
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ROMAN CATHOLIC ARCHBISHOP OF BOSTON,  
A CORPORATION SOLE 
Combined Statements of Financial Position 
June 30, 2016 and 2015 
(in thousands) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these combined financial statements. 

- 3 - 

2016 2015

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents

    Parish operations 69,373$         69,833$         

    Revolving loan fund 1,616             3,037             

    Central operations 4,309             5,328             

    Insurance operations 2,434             2,097             

    Parish reconfiguration 1,672             2,074             

                      Total cash and cash equivalents 79,404           82,369           

Interest and dividends receivable, net 1,310             1,302             

Prepaid expenses and other assets 10,744           9,299             

Accounts receivable, net 6,629             6,958             

Contributions receivable, net (Note 3) 7,655             2,358             

Loans and notes receivable, net (Note 3) 19,775           16,032           

Land and buildings held for sale (Note 5) 1,286             1,394             

Investments (Note 4) 169,712         191,888         

Interest in net assets of a foundation (Note 8) 32,910           35,796           

Land, buildings and equipment, net (Note 5) 517,188         510,489         

                      Total assets 846,613$       857,885$       

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

LIABILITIES

    Accounts payable and accrued expenses 23,473$         26,144$         

    Agency obligations 1,906             1,791             

    Reserves for losses (Note 9) 8,273             8,453             

    Due to related organizations 16,947           19,461           

    Deferred revenue and support 17,876           20,120           

    Accrued pension and other post-retirement benefits (Note 13) 70,013           62,906           

    Other liabilities (Note 10) 10,487           9,557             

    Notes payable - related organizations (Note 6) 36,408           36,408           

                      Total liabilities 185,383         184,840         

Commitments and contingencies (Note 11)

NET ASSETS

    Unrestricted 575,222         586,009         

    Temporarily restricted (Note 7) 45,379           46,868           

    Permanently restricted (Note 7) 40,629           40,168           

                      Total net assets 661,230         673,045         

                      Total liabilities and net assets 846,613$       857,885$       
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ROMAN CATHOLIC ARCHBISHOP OF BOSTON,  
a CORPORATION SOLE 
Combined Statement of Activities 
For the year ended June 30, 2016 
(With summarized comparative information for the year ended June 30, 2015) 
(in thousands) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these combined financial statements. 
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Temporarily Permanently 2016 2015

Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total Total

REVENUES AND OTHER SUPPORT

    Collections 116,998$        2,198$            -     $              119,196$        117,955$        

    Collections - clergy benefits -                     11,129            -                     11,129            11,272            

    Catholic Appeal 15,545            304                 -                     15,849            14,765            

    Contributions and bequests 23,076            8,887              -                     31,963            28,640            

    Parish fundraiser events, net 13,485            -                     -                     13,485            13,866            

    Tuition and fees 108,084          -                     -                     108,084          108,220          

    Investment income 5,330              564                 -                     5,894              6,536              

    Rental income 15,038            -                     -                     15,038            15,038            

    Cemetery operations 4,668              -                     -                     4,668              4,628              

    Revenue from services provided (Note 14) 4,788              -                     -                     4,788              4,382              

    Insurance premium revenue 1,099              -                     -                     1,099              1,289              

    Sacramental offerings 7,930              -                     -                     7,930              7,815              

    Other revenues 11,374            (4)                   -                     11,370            11,671            

    Change in interest in net assets of a foundation (5)                   (3,048)            132                 (2,921)            (462)               

    Net assets released from restrictions and reclassifications (Note 7) 19,550            (19,543)          (7)                   -                     -                     

                      Total revenues and other support 346,960          487                 125                 347,572          345,615          

EXPENSES

    Program

        Parish life and leadership 179,214          -                     -                     179,214          182,098          

        Catholic education 131,083          -                     -                     131,083          127,138          

        Faith formation and evangelization 4,588              -                     -                     4,588              4,764              

        Health and social services 5,121              -                     -                     5,121              3,987              

        Central and regional services 3,877              -                     -                     3,877              3,691              

        Media and public relations 601                 -                     -                     601                 677                 

        Cemetery operations 4,756              -                     -                     4,756              4,605              

                      Total program expenses 329,240          -                     -                     329,240          326,960          

    Management and general 19,713            -                     -                     19,713            19,422            

    Fundraising (Note 14) 2,793              -                     -                     2,793              2,895              

    Parish reconfiguration (Note 5) 1,422              -                     -                     1,422              1,442              

                      Total expenses 353,168          -                     -                     353,168          350,719          

                      Operating (loss) income (6,208)            487                 125                 (5,596)            (5,104)            

NONOPERATING INCOME (LOSS)

    Contributions 587                 11,041            336                 11,964            8,302              

    Contributions from related organizations -                     -                     -                     -                     3,859              

    Net assets released from restrictions (Note 7) 12,563            (12,563)          -                     -                     -                     

    Net realized and unrealized loss on investments (7,931)            (447)               -                     (8,378)            (1,906)            

    Gain on sale of land and buildings 8,538              -                     -                     8,538              17,757            

    Insurance and other recoveries 3,622              -                     -                     3,622              4,206              

    Settlements and related expenses (4,418)            -                     -                     (4,418)            (4,900)            

    Pension-related (charges) credits other than periodic pension costs (17,540)          -                     -                     (17,540)          12,169            

                      Nonoperating (loss) income (4,579)            (1,969)            336                 (6,212)            39,487            

                      Change in net assets (10,787)          (1,482)            461                 (11,808)          34,383            

Net assets at beginning of year 586,009          46,868            40,168            673,045          638,662          

Net asset transfers to related organizations (Note 14) -                     (7)                   -                     (7)                   -                     

Net assets at end of year 575,222$        45,379$          40,629$          661,230$        673,045$        
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ROMAN CATHOLIC ARCHBISHOP OF BOSTON,  
a CORPORATION SOLE 
Combined Statement of Activities 
For the year ended June 30, 2015 
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these combined financial statements. 
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Temporarily Permanently 2015

Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total

REVENUES AND OTHER SUPPORT

    Collections 115,845$        2,110$            -     $              117,955$        

    Collections - clergy benefits -                     11,272            -                     11,272            

    Catholic Appeal 14,416            349                 -                     14,765            

    Contributions and bequests 17,647            10,993            -                     28,640            

    Parish fundraiser events, net 13,866            -                     -                     13,866            

    Tuition and fees 108,220          -                     -                     108,220          

    Investment income 5,939              597                 -                     6,536              

    Rental income 15,038            -                     -                     15,038            

    Cemetery operations 4,628              -                     -                     4,628              

    Revenue from services provided (Note 14) 4,382              -                     -                     4,382              

    Insurance premium revenue 1,289              -                     -                     1,289              

    Sacramental offerings 7,815              -                     -                     7,815              

    Other revenues 11,671            -                     -                     11,671            

    Change in interest in net assets of a foundation 418                 (1,339)            459                 (462)               

    Net assets released from restrictions and reclassifications (Note 7) 27,642            (27,039)          (603)               -                     

                      Total revenues and other support 348,816          (3,057)            (144)               345,615          

EXPENSES
    Program

        Parish life and leadership 182,098          -                     -                     182,098          

        Catholic education 127,138          -                     -                     127,138          

        Faith formation and evangelization 4,764              -                     -                     4,764              

        Health and social services 3,987              -                     -                     3,987              

        Central and regional services 3,691              -                     -                     3,691              

        Media and public relations 677                 -                     -                     677                 

        Cemetery operations 4,605              -                     -                     4,605              

                      Total program expenses 326,960          -                     -                     326,960          

    Management and general 19,422            -                     -                     19,422            

    Fundraising (Note 14) 2,895              -                     -                     2,895              

    Parish reconfiguration (Note 5) 1,442              -                     -                     1,442              

                      Total expenses 350,719          -                     -                     350,719          

                      Operating (loss) income (1,903)            (3,057)            (144)               (5,104)            

NONOPERATING INCOME (LOSS)

    Contributions -                     7,090              1,212              8,302              

    Contributions from related organizations 3,859              -                     -                     3,859              

    Net assets released from restrictions (Note 7) 6,318              (6,318)            -                     -                     

    Net realized and unrealized loss on investments (1,718)            (188)               -                     (1,906)            

    Gain on sale of land and buildings 17,757            -                     -                     17,757            

    Insurance and other recoveries 4,206              -                     -                     4,206              

    Settlements and related expenses (4,900)            -                     -                     (4,900)            

    Pension-related credits other than periodic pension costs 12,169            -                     -                     12,169            

                      Nonoperating income 37,691            584                 1,212              39,487            
 

                      Change in net assets 35,788            (2,473)            1,068              34,383            

Net assets at beginning of year 550,221          49,341            39,100            638,662          

Net assets at end of year 586,009$        46,868$          40,168$          673,045$        
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ROMAN CATHOLIC ARCHBISHOP OF BOSTON,  
a CORPORATION SOLE 
Combined Statements of Cash Flow 
For the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015 
(in thousands) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these combined financial statements. 
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2016 2015

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Change in net assets (11,808)$        34,383$         

Adjustments to reconcile the change in net assets to net cash

    and cash equivalents provided by operating activities:

        Depreciation 21,761           20,923           

        Provision for (recovery of) uncollectible accounts, contributions and 

            loans receivable, note payable (631)               510                

        Gain on sale of land and buildings (8,538)            (17,757)          

        Net realized and unrealized loss (gain) on investments 8,378             1,906             

        Property related insurance recoveries (5,245)            (2,442)            

        Contributions restricted for long term purposes (11,964)          (8,210)            

        Change in interest in net assets of a foundation 2,921             462                

        Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 

            Interest and dividends receivable (15)                 (30)                 

            Prepaid expenses and other assets (1,445)            (1,554)            

            Accounts receivable 974                1,990             

            Contributions receivable (5,486)            4,865             

            Accounts payable and accrued expenses (2,671)            90                  

            Agency obligations 115                177                

            Reserves for losses (180)               (1,361)            

            Due to related organizations (2,514)            (2,297)            

            Deferred revenue and support (2,244)            (3,555)            

            Accrued pension and other postretirement costs 7,107             (21,076)          

            Other liabilities 930                2,929             

                      Net cash and cash equivalents (used in) provided by operating activities (10,555)          9,953             

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

    Proceeds from sale of land, buildings and equipment 9,096             19,231           

    Purchase of land, buildings and equipment (28,917)          (37,533)          

    Property related insurance recoveries 5,245             2,442             

    Proceeds from sale of investments and maturity of annuities 27,742           11,011           

    Purchase of investments (13,979)          (13,550)          

    Net repayments on loans (3,561)            (1,035)            

                      Net cash and cash equivalents used in investing activities (4,374)            (19,434)          

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

    Contributions restricted for long term purposes 11,964           8,210             

                      Net cash and cash equivalents provided by financing activities 11,964           8,210             

                      Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (2,965)            (1,271)            

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 82,369           83,640           

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 79,404$         82,369$         

Supplemental cash flow information

    Noncash items within the cash flow include:

        Purchase of land, buildings and equipment in accounts payable and accrued expenses 2,067$           3,437$           
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1. NATURE OF ORGANIZATION 

The Roman Catholic Archbishop of Boston, a Corporation Sole (the “Corporation Sole”) is a legal entity 

created under Massachusetts civil law in 1897 to provide the Roman Catholic Archbishop of Boston with a 

means to operate within, and be governed by, the public statutes of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.  

The Corporation Sole, as an entity, is distinguishable from the Roman Catholic Archbishop of Boston 

whose powers and responsibilities are established by Canon Law. 

The accompanying financial statements of the Corporation Sole include the activities of all parishes and 

their controlled schools and cemeteries located within the Archdiocese of Boston (the “Archdiocese”), 

central operations (the Archdiocese administrative activities and programs) and the self-insurance program 

(as further described in Note 2). 

The Roman Catholic Archbishop of Boston, by virtue of his office, serves as chairman of the board or 

president of numerous separately incorporated Catholic organizations that operate within the Archdiocese 

of Boston.  While these organizations are considered to be related organizations of the Corporation Sole, 

management doesn’t consider them to be under the control of the Corporation Sole and, accordingly, their 

financial activities are not presented as part of the accompanying financial statements. 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Basis of Presentation 

The financial statements of the Corporation Sole have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting and 

in accordance with the accounting and reporting principles applicable to not-for-profit entities under 

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the United States (“US GAAP”). 

The Corporation Sole reports three classes of net assets and the changes in those net assets in the statements 

of financial position and statements of activities, respectively.  The three classes of net assets - unrestricted, 

temporarily restricted and permanently restricted - are based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed 

restrictions.  The three classifications are defined as follows: 

Unrestricted net assets - Assets and contributions that are not restricted by the donor or for which 

restrictions have expired. 

Temporarily restricted net assets - Net assets subject to donor-imposed restrictions that permit the 

Corporation Sole to use or expend the donated assets as specified and that are satisfied by either the passage 

of time or by actions of the Corporation Sole. 

Permanently restricted net assets - Net assets subject to donor-imposed stipulations that they be maintained 

permanently by the Corporation Sole or by a third party foundation or trustee for the benefit of the 

Corporation Sole.  Generally, the donors of these assets permit the Corporation Sole to use, all or in part, 

the income earned on related investments for general or specific purposes.  Unexpended appreciation and 

income on permanently restricted net assets is included in temporarily restricted net assets. 

The Corporation Sole reports gifts of cash and other assets as restricted support if there are donor 

restrictions as to purpose or time.  When a donor restriction expires, that is, when a stipulated time 
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restriction ends or purpose restriction is accomplished, temporarily restricted net assets are reclassified to 

unrestricted net assets and reported in the statement of activities as net assets released from restrictions. 

The Corporation Sole reports gifts of land, buildings and equipment as unrestricted support unless explicit 

donor stipulations specify how the donated assets must be used, in which case they are reported as restricted 

support.  Absent explicit donor stipulations about how long those long-lived assets must be maintained, the 

Corporation Sole reports expirations of donor restrictions in the period the asset is placed in service.  

Donor-restricted gifts intended for capital projects are reported as nonoperating contributions and are 

released from temporarily restricted net assets to be presented as unrestricted support when the related 

expenditures are incurred. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Financial instruments with original maturities of three months or less at the purchase date are classified as 

cash equivalents. 

The Corporation Sole deposits its cash in major financial institutions.  Deposits in transaction accounts are 

100% insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) up to $250 per institution.  At times, 

funds deposited in banks are in excess of FDIC insured limits.  The Corporation Sole reviews and monitors 

the strength of the financial institutions and as such has not experienced any losses as a result of the use of 

uninsured deposit accounts. 

Accounts and Loans Receivable 

Accounts receivable include amounts due for tuition and amounts due from related organizations for 

insurance and other central services and are reduced to their estimated net realizable value through an 

allowance for doubtful accounts.  Loans receivable represent advances made to related organizations. 

Loans receivable are stated at the amount of unpaid principal, reduced by an allowance for loan losses.  

Generally, loans are granted for specific periods of time and contain specific provisions regarding payment 

terms and collateral.  Interest income on performing loans is accrued on the respective unpaid principal 

balance.  Lending rates on new loans typically ranged from 3.9% to 4.5% for the years ended June 30, 2016 

and 2015.  Interest income is not accrued on nonperforming loans. 

Loans are generally classified as nonperforming when they are over ninety days past due or when the 

payment of interest is deemed to be doubtful.  Loans are restored to performing status when the obligation 

is brought current, has performed in accordance with the contractual terms for a reasonable period of time 

and the ultimate collectability of the total contractual principal and interest is no longer in doubt.  

Allowances for Accounts Receivable and Loan Losses 

The allowances for accounts receivable and loan losses are maintained at a level believed by management 

to be representative of inherent losses estimated on the basis of factors such as the risk characteristics of the 

borrowers, underlying collateral and current economic conditions that may affect the borrower’s ability to 

pay.  Loans and accounts receivable are written-off in whole or in part when, in management’s opinion, 

collectability is considered remote.  Subsequent recoveries, if any, are recorded as an increase to income. 
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While management uses available information to establish the allowances for accounts receivable and loan 

losses, future additions or reductions to the allowances may become necessary if circumstances differ from 

the assumptions used in making the evaluation as of each reporting date. 

Fair Value Measurements 

The Corporation Sole measures the fair values of certain assets and liabilities at an exit price, representing 

the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 

between market participants.  A fair value hierarchy is used to prioritize the inputs to valuation techniques 

used to measure fair value.  The Corporation Sole classifies its assets and liabilities into Level 1 (securities 

valued using quoted prices from active markets for identical assets and liabilities), Level 2 (securities not 

traded on an active market for which observable market inputs are readily available), and Level 3 (securities 

valued based on significant unobservable inputs).  A qualifying asset or liability’s level within the 

framework is based upon the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value measurement. 

The fair value of the Corporation Sole’s investments is discussed in Note 12.  The following is a description 

of the valuation methodologies and inputs used for assets and liabilities measured at fair value, as well as 

the general classification pursuant to the valuation hierarchy. 

Alternative Investments - Alternative investments are certain investments in the Common Investment Fund 

and the Fixed Income Fund.  The fair value of these investments is determined using the net asset value 

(“NAV”) per share.  The investments are redeemable at year-end at NAV per share. 

There are no unfunded commitments or redemption restrictions related to these investments at June 30, 

2016.  Redemptions from the Common Investment Fund and the Fixed Income Fund are available on a 

monthly basis. 

Short-Term and Other Investments - Short-term and other investments consist of certificates of deposit, 

mutual funds, fixed income and equity securities.  Mutual funds are valued based on quoted prices in active 

markets and are classified within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.  Fixed income and equity securities 

listed on securities exchanges are valued at the last sale price or official closing price on each business day 

or if there is no such reported sale or official closing price at the most recent quoted bid price.  Fixed 

income securities are classified as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.  Certificates of deposit are valued at 

original cost plus accrued interest, which approximates fair value, and are classified within Level 2 of the 

fair value hierarchy. 

Beneficial Interest in Trusts - The Corporation Sole is the beneficiary of nine trusts maintained by third 

party trustees.  These beneficial interests are included in prepaid expense and other assets in the statements 

of financial position at June 30, 2016 and 2015.  The Corporation Sole records the fair value of the trusts on 

a recurring basis based on the Corporation Sole’s share of the underlying investment portfolio that consists 

of actively traded equities, bonds and money market funds.  The trusts are managed by financial institutions 

and investment managers who provide statements on a regular basis presenting the market value of the 

portfolio holdings. 

Investments - Investments are carried at fair value.  Changes in fair values are reflected in the statements of 

activities as unrealized gains or losses on investments. 
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Included in investments are holdings in the Common Investment Fund, Roman Catholic Archbishop of 

Boston (the “Common Investment Fund”) and the Fixed Income Investment Fund, Roman Catholic 

Archbishop of Boston (the “Fixed Income Fund”).  Both are related organizations established to provide 

common investment pools in which the Corporation Sole and other Catholic organizations may participate.  

The participants own units based upon a per-unit value at the time of purchase.  It is the policy of the 

Common Investment Fund to distribute a dividend to its members on a quarterly basis of 1% of its net 

assets as of the previous quarter-end.  The Fixed Income Fund does not have a policy of making automatic 

distributions.  These dividend policies are subject to change at the discretion of the Roman Catholic 

Archbishop of Boston.  The Common Investment Fund incurs service fees from the Corporation Sole for 

administrative and clerical services performed on their behalf (Note 14). 

The Common Investment Fund invests all of its funds in the Collective Investment Partnership, Roman 

Catholic Archbishop of Boston (the “Partnership”), the underlying investments of which include equity and 

fixed-income securities owned either directly or indirectly through mutual funds and private investment 

entities. 

The fair value of the Fixed Income Fund’s and the Partnership’s investments in domestic and foreign 

securities listed on securities exchanges is valued at the last reported sale price.  For those securities whose 

prices are not available through independent pricing services, bid price quotations are obtained by the 

investment custodian from principal market makers in those securities or at fair value as determined in good 

faith by investment managers.  Securities whose prices are not available through independent pricing 

services are recorded at fair value based on the net asset value per share on the valuation date as reported by 

the individual investment managers. 

The Corporation Sole believes that these valuations are a reasonable estimate of fair value as of June 30, 

2016 and 2015, but are subject to uncertainty and, therefore, may differ from the value that would have 

been used had a ready market for the investments existed.  Investment securities, in general, are exposed to 

various risks, such as interest rate, credit, currency exchange and overall market volatility.  Due to the level 

of risk associated with certain investment securities, it is reasonably possible that changes in the values of 

investment securities will occur in the near term and that such changes could materially affect amounts 

reported in the financial statements. 

Interest in Net Assets of a Foundation 

The Corporation Sole is a designated beneficiary in certain endowments and charitable gift annuities held 

by The Catholic Community Fund of the Archdiocese of Boston, Inc., a related organization.  The 

beneficial interest in net assets of The Catholic Community Fund is reflected on the statements of financial 

position as an interest in net assets of a foundation.  The Corporation Sole receives quarterly distributions 

on these endowments to support central ministries and parish programs in addition to distributions from 

charitable gift annuities when the annuity obligation is satisfied.  Changes to this beneficial interest for 

distributions, new contributions and investment activity are reflected in the statements of activities. 

Land, Buildings and Equipment 

Land and land improvements, buildings and building improvements, and furniture and equipment are 

carried at cost, or if donated, at fair market value at the time of donation.  Depreciation is recorded on the 

straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from five years for furniture and 
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equipment to forty years for buildings.  Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to expense, 

whereas major betterments are capitalized. 

Land and buildings held for sale are accounted for at the lower of cost or market.  When buildings are 

classified as held for sale, depreciation is no longer recorded. 

Reserves for Losses 

Self Insurance and Reinsurance - The Corporation Sole is partially self-insured for various risks incidental 

to the normal course of its activities.  Such risks include general liability claims (up to $250 per 

occurrence), theft losses and sudden accidental occurrences to boilers and related equipment.  In addition, 

the Corporation Sole participates with other Catholic organizations in a separate workers’ compensation 

self-insurance group, Massachusetts Catholic Self-Insurance Group, Inc., a related organization. 

The Corporation Sole also permits related organizations within the Archdiocese of Boston as well as other 

Catholic organizations to participate in its risk management program.  A contribution is assessed to these 

entities based on the type of risks shared among these organizations.  The typical risk areas that the other 

organizations participate in include automobile liability, physical property damage and general liability.  

The Corporation Sole provides additional coverage for the peril of all fire, sudden and accidental 

occurrences, catastrophic umbrella liability and other miscellaneous coverage through the direct purchase of 

insurance.  The Corporation Sole has retained carriers for its auto insurance and these carriers cover losses 

up to $1,000 with additional catastrophic limits. 

Effective July 1, 2014, the Corporation Sole established, licensed and capitalized Fides Insurance Group, 

Inc. (“Fides”), a captive insurance company domiciled in Vermont.  Fides currently provides the first $500 

(per occurrence) of property insurance for the parishes and institutions.  The captive, an alternative risk 

funding vehicle, was established to take advantage of additional cost reduction opportunities, enable access 

to reinsurance markets, and to better position the Archdiocese to collaborate more effectively with other 

Catholic organizations and dioceses to enhance and share the cost saving and risk transfer opportunities.   

Clergy Misconduct Claims - The Corporation Sole estimates a reserve for settlement of reported misconduct 

claims and direct related litigation costs based on its historical settlement experience.  An additional reserve 

is accrued using the same historical settlement data for incurred but not reported claims based on an 

independent analysis performed by an actuary. 

The reserves for losses are based on losses reported, historical experience and estimates of future trends in 

loss severity and frequency and other factors, which could vary as claims are ultimately settled.  The actual 

amount of losses and loss adjustment expenses may vary significantly from the estimated amounts included 

in the financial statements.  The methods used to develop these reserves are subject to continuing review 

and refinement, and any necessary adjustments to these reserves are reflected in the statement of activities 

in the year identified. 

Deferred Revenue and Support 

Deferred revenue and support represents payments received and amounts billed but unpaid for tuition, fees, 

support for program services to be provided in future periods and other revenues received but not earned in 

the current fiscal year. 
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Pension Benefits 

Pension obligations and other post-retirement benefits are actuarially determined and are affected by several 

assumptions including the discount rate used to present value expected future benefit payments and the 

annual rates of return on plan assets.  Changes in discount rate and differences from expected results will 

affect the amounts of pension and other post-retirement expense recognized in future periods.  These 

assumptions may also have an effect on the amount and timing of future cash contributions.  The 

Corporation Sole recognizes the over-funded or under-funded status of defined benefit post-retirement plans 

in its statement of financial position measured as the difference between the fair value of plan assets and the 

benefit obligation.  The change in the funded status of the plan is recognized in the year in which the 

change occurs through nonoperating income (loss) in the statement of activities.  These provisions also 

require plan assets and obligations to be measured as of the Corporation Sole’s statement of financial 

position date. 

Collections 

Collections represent contributions received by Archdiocesan parishes for general and specified purposes.  

These funds are raised for parish operations and other purposes such as hunger, homelessness, and other 

human welfare programs and are reported as revenue in the statement of activities.  Collections at 

Archdiocesan parishes for specified beneficiary organizations are not recorded as revenues, but are reflected 

as agency obligations until such time as the funds are remitted to the specified organizations. 

Catholic Appeal 

The Catholic Appeal represents an annual solicitation by Boston Catholic Development Services, Inc. 

(“BCDS”), on behalf of Corporation Sole, through both direct mailings and Archdiocesan parishes in 

support of the central ministry activities and programs of the Archdiocese of Boston.  

The funds raised from the Catholic Appeal are reflected separately from the revenue and change in interest 

in net assets of a foundation in the statements of activities and from the interest in net assets of a foundation 

in the statements of financial position. 

The funds raised from the Catholic Appeal are reported on a fiscal year basis, which differs from the actual 

Catholic Appeal year (March through February).  Consequently, the results reported include overlapping 

Catholic Appeal years. 

Contributions 

Unconditional promises to give are recognized as support on the date the promise is verifiably committed.  

Unconditional promises to give that are expected to be collected within one year are recorded at net 

realizable value.  Unconditional promises to give that are expected to be collected in future years are 

recorded at fair value, which is calculated as the present value of their estimated future cash flows.  

Unconditional promises to give are reported as contributions receivable.  Conditional promises to give are 

not recognized as support until the conditions are substantially met. 

Contributions receivable are reflected in the statements of financial position net of $1,117 and $314 of 

allowances for doubtful collections for the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. 
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Parish Fundraiser Events 

Parish fundraising events are reflected in the statements of activities net of $8,032 and $8,179 of direct 

fundraising expenses for the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. 

Tuition and Fees 

Tuition and fees are recognized as revenue in the period to which they relate.  Student deposits and tuition 

paid in advance are included in deferred revenue and support in the accompanying statements of financial 

position.  Tuition and fee revenues are reported net of the discount attributable to reduction in amounts 

charged to students.  Accounts receivable and deferred revenue related to subsequent fiscal years are netted 

for financial statement presentation purposes. 

Rental Income 

External parties, and to a limited extent related organizations, are charged rent for the use of property 

owned and operated by the Corporation Sole.  Rental income is recognized on a straight-line basis. 

Cemetery Operations 

Future care funds include only such funds for cemeteries operated by parishes within the Archdiocese of 

Boston.  They do not include the future care funds of cemeteries that are owned and operated by The 

Catholic Cemetery Association of the Archdiocese of Boston, Inc. (“Cemetery Association”), a related 

organization. 

Revenue from Services Provided 

The Corporation Sole provides various administrative, technology and clerical services to related Catholic 

organizations for which it charges fees.  Such services include risk and benefits management, treasury and 

investment management, financial management, information technology and property management 

services.  Such revenue is recognized when services are provided.  Fees and other revenue are also 

generated by pastoral and ministerial workshops and retreats. 

Insurance Premium Revenue 

Insurance premium revenues are received from related Catholic organizations that participate in the 

Corporation Sole risk management program.  Such revenue is recognized when earned. 

Sacramental Offerings 

Revenues from sacramental offerings related to baptisms, marriages and funerals are recognized when 

received. 

Other Revenues 

Other revenue primarily represents income from various goods sold and services provided by the parishes 

and parish schools.  Such revenues are recognized when the goods are sold or as services are provided. 
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Beneficiary in Wills and Estates 

The Corporation Sole is named as a beneficiary in numerous wills and estates.  The Corporation Sole deems 

these to be intentions to give and not unconditional promises to give.  The Corporation Sole recognizes 

contribution revenue and a receivable for its interest in the estate based upon a probate court having 

declared an individual will to be valid and Corporation Sole having the ability to determine the fair value of 

the estate. 

Income Taxes 

The Corporation Sole is included in the annual United States Conference of Catholic Bishops Internal 

Revenue Service Group Ruling and is a not-for-profit organization as described in Section 501(c) (3) of the 

Internal Revenue Code, as amended (the Code), and is generally exempt from income taxes pursuant to 

Section 501(a) of the Code.  Corporation Sole is required to assess uncertain tax positions and has 

determined that there were no such positions that are material to the financial statements. 

It is the Corporation Sole’s policy to record estimated interest and penalties (if any) as part of management 

and general expenses. 

Functional Allocation of Expenses 

The cost of providing the various programs and other activities has been summarized on a functional basis 

in the statement of activities.  Costs have been allocated among the programs and supporting services based 

on an estimate of the relative effort expended for the related functions. 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with US GAAP requires management to make 

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of 

contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues 

and expenses during the reporting period.  The more significant items presented herein affected by the use 

of estimates are the allowances for uncollectible loans and accounts receivable, the fair value of 

investments, depreciable lives of buildings and equipment, reserves for losses, the accrued pension and 

other post-retirement obligations and the functional allocation of expenses.  Actual results could vary from 

those estimates. 

Reclassifications 

Certain information in the fiscal 2015 combined financial statements has been reclassified to conform to the 

fiscal 2016 presentation.  There were no changes in total revenues, total expenses or changes in net assets as 

reflected in the fiscal 2015 consolidated financial statements as a result of the reclassifications. 

Subsequent Events 

In connection with the preparation of these financial statements, the Corporation Sole has evaluated events 

and transactions through December 22, 2016, which is the date these financial statements were available for 

issuance. 
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3. CONTRIBUTIONS, LOANS AND NOTES RECEIVABLE 

Contributions Receivable, Net 

Contributions receivable consisted of the following at June 30: 

2016 2015

Contributions receivable 8,772$           2,672$           

Less:  Allowance for uncollectible pledges (1,117)            (314)               

Contributions receivable, net 7,655$           2,358$           
 

All pledges are to be collected over the next five years. 

Loans and Notes Receivable, Net 

Loans and notes receivable consisted of the following at June 30 and are due from various related 

organizations (including The Fund for Catholic Schools, Inc.): 

2016 2015

Loans and notes receivable 21,167$         17,606$         

Allowance for loan losses (1,392)            (1,574)            

                      Loans receivable, net 19,775$         16,032$         
 

Accrued interest is included in interest and dividends receivable on the statements of financial position. 

Changes in the allowance for loan losses were as follows for the years ended June 30: 

2016 2015

Balance at beginning of year 1,574$           1,586$           

Provision for loan losses (182)               (12)                 

Balance at end of year 1,392$           1,574$           
 

At June 30, the following loan amounts were past due: 

1-60 days past due 60-90 days past due 90+ days past due Total past due

2016 -     $                        -     $                        1,239$                     1,239$                     

2015 620$                        -     $                        1,216$                     1,836$                      
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Loans to The Fund for Catholic Schools, Inc. 

The Roman Catholic Archbishop of Boston, working in coordination with a group of donors, established 

The Fund for Catholic Schools, Inc. (“The Fund”), to raise contributions for improvements to Catholic 

elementary schools within the Archdiocese of Boston.  Initial borrowings from Corporation Sole by The 

Fund related to construction and reorganization costs totaled $28,000.  At June 30, 2016 and 2015, the 

Corporation Sole had $9,630 and $9,971, respectively, of outstanding loans to The Fund for Catholic 

Schools, Inc.  These loans have no stated maturity date. 

Notes Receivable 

In September 2011, the Corporation Sole entered into a $1,800 note receivable with the St. Thomas Syro-

Malabar Catholic Church located in Boston, which is affiliated with the St. Thomas Syro-Malabar Catholic 

Diocese of Chicago, in conjunction with the sale of a former parish property.  This note is non-interest 

bearing and payable in installments of $180 due every five years.  The first payment was due and received 

on June 30, 2016.  Corporation Sole accounted for this transaction as an installment sale.  The deferred 

revenue associated with this transaction is $1,286 and $1,429 at June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. 

4. INVESTMENTS 

Investments consisted of the following at June 30: 

2016 2015

Common investment fund 107,636$       113,838$       

Fixed income fund 35,244           53,667           

Short-term investments 14,387           15,271           

Other Investments:

Common stock securities 6,063             6,248             

Money market funds 3,219             941                

Fixed income securities 3,163             1,923             

                      Total investments 169,712$       191,888$       
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5. LAND, BUILDINGS AND EQUIPMENT 

Land, buildings and equipment consisted of the following at June 30: 

2016 2015

Land and land improvements 62,416$         62,499$         

Buildings and improvements 1,250,996      1,225,097      

Furniture and equipment 89,640           84,999           

Construction in progress 7,401             11,596           

                      Total 1,410,453      1,384,191      

Less accumulated depreciation (893,265)        (873,702)        

                      Land, buildings and equipment, net 517,188$       510,489$       
 

Land and buildings held for sale totaling $1,286 and $1,394 at June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, are 

carried at cost, net of accumulated depreciation at the date the property was classified as held for sale, 

which is less than estimated net realizable value. 

The Corporation Sole leases certain of its properties primarily to unrelated third parties.  At June 30, 2016, 

scheduled receipts for the next five years and thereafter under non-cancelable long-term rental agreements 

are as follows: 

Year Ending June 30,

2017 10,637$         

2018 9,565             

2019 8,151             

2020 6,148             

2021 3,730             

Thereafter 64,224           

                      Total 102,455$        

Properties under lease also include buildings leased to several related Catholic high schools and academies 

well below market rates.  Management estimates the market value of those rentals to be approximately 

$8,400 for the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015.   

Parish Reconfiguration 

In May 2004, the Corporation Sole entered into a reconfiguration plan that included the suppression of 

certain parishes within the Archdiocese of Boston.  This plan was in response to significant changes 

occurring within the Archdiocese of Boston, including changing demographics, a decline in the number of 

clergy, and the impact of deferred maintenance on parish properties.  Seventy-six parishes have been closed 

and consolidated with adjoining parishes. 
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The land and buildings associated with forty-seven suppressed parishes have been sold through June 30, 

2016.  Gains of $3,714 and $5,057 were recognized during the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, 

respectively, for reconfiguration sales.  These gains are included in the accompanying statements of 

activities as part of the gain on sale of land and buildings.  Assets held for sale are recorded at the lower of 

cost or fair market value less estimated costs to sell. 

The costs of maintaining the suppressed parish properties are included in the accompanying statements of 

activities as parish reconfiguration expenses. 

6. NOTES PAYABLE AND LINE OF CREDIT 

Notes Payable - Related Organization 

In October 2008, the Corporation Sole entered into a 10-year promissory note with St. John’s Seminary (the 

“Seminary”) for $36,408 in connection with the August 2007 joint sale of property.  This note is 

non-interest bearing and subordinated to all other liabilities, obligations and indebtedness of the 

Corporation Sole.  This promissory note was originally due and payable in one lump sum payment on 

August 23, 2017.  On September 22, 2014, the Seminary Board of Trustees voted to extend the due date to 

August 23, 2027. 

The estimated fair value of the Seminary promissory note as of June 30, 2016 and 2015 is $23,028 and 

$22,090, respectively.  This fair value is based on estimates using current market interest rates available for 

similar debt with equivalent maturities and risk factors.  

Line of Credit 

In June 2013, the Corporation Sole entered into an unsecured line of credit agreement with a bank which 

allows for borrowings up to $2,500 at the bank’s prime rate minus 1.3%.  In January 2016, the Corporation 

Sole amended the credit agreement with the bank to increase the line of credit to $8,000.  The rate was 

2.20% and 1.95% at June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.  There were no outstanding borrowings at 

June 30, 2016 and 2015.  The line of credit is subject to an annual review on February 28, 2017 and 

continuing on the same date each year thereafter.  Upon the annual review, the bank at its sole discretion 

may agree to extend the term of the line of credit or demand payment.    
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7. TEMPORARILY RESTRICTED AND PERMANENTLY RESTRICTED NET ASSETS 

Temporarily restricted net assets were available for the following purposes at June 30: 

2016 2015

Buildings and equipment 9,600$           10,845$         

Special collections 8                    39                  

Parish life and leadership 14,620           12,460           

Catholic education 5,600             5,887             

Faith formation and evangelization 6,074             7,885             

Health and social services 683                729                

Central ministries 8,794             9,023             

                      Total 45,379$         46,868$         
 

Net assets released from restrictions were expended for the following purposes for the years ended June 30: 

2016 2015

Buildings and equipment 12,563$         6,318$           

Special collections 2,243             2,129             

Parish life and leadership 15,479           24,588           

Catholic education 1,172             175                

Faith formation and evangelization 368                17                  

Health and social services 69                  15                  

Central ministries 219                718                

                      Total 32,113$         33,960$         
 

Included in the net assets released from restrictions and reclassifications on the statement of activities are $7 

and $603 of reclassifications due to clarification of donor intent for the years ended June 30, 2016 and 

2015, respectively. 
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Permanently restricted net assets consist of the following at June 30.  Income earned on these funds is 

reported within temporarily restricted net assets and is available for the purposes described below: 

2016 2015

Parish life and leadership 10,518$         9,987$           

Catholic education 4,220             4,178             

Faith formation and evangelization 17,598           17,779           

Health and social services 175                175                

Central ministries 8,118             8,049             

                      Total 40,629$         40,168$         
 

8. ENDOWMENTS 

The Corporation Sole’s endowment, including endowments held by the Catholic Community Fund, consists 

of 193 individual funds established for the support of various programs and central ministries.  Net assets 

associated with endowment funds are classified and reported based on the existence or absence of donor-

imposed restrictions. 

Interpretation of Relevant Law 

In accordance with the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act (“UPMIFA”), the 

Corporation Sole has continued to follow its policy of preserving the corpus of the original gift of the 

donor-restricted endowment funds absent explicit donor stipulations to the contrary.  As a result of this 

interpretation, the Corporation Sole classifies as permanently restricted net assets (a) the original value of 

gifts donated to the permanent endowment, (b) the original value of subsequent gifts to the permanent 

endowment, if any, and (c) accumulations to the permanent endowment made in accordance with the 

direction of the applicable donor gift instrument at the time the accumulation is added to the fund, if any.  

This is regarded as the “historic dollar value” of the endowed fund.   

The remaining portion of the donor-restricted endowment fund that is not classified in permanently 

restricted net assets and is regarded as “net appreciation” is classified as temporarily restricted net assets 

until they are appropriated for expenditure in a manner consistent with the donor’s intentions and the 

Corporation Sole’s spending policy. 

Funds with Deficiencies 

From time-to-time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted endowment funds 

may fall below their “historic dollar value”.  Deficiencies of this nature are accounted for and reported by a 

charge to unrestricted net assets and corresponding increase to temporarily restricted net assets.  The 

aggregate balance of the funds that fell below corpus amounted to $117 and $75 as of June 30, 2016 and 

2015, respectively. 
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Endowment Investment Policy 

The Corporation Sole has adopted an investment policy which attempts to provide a predictable stream of 

investment returns thereby making funds available annually to programs that are supported by its 

endowment, while at the same time seeking to maintain the purchasing power of the endowment assets.  

Endowment assets include those assets of donor-restricted funds that the Corporation Sole must hold in 

perpetuity or for donor-specified periods.  Under the Corporation Sole’s investment policy and spending 

policy, both of which are approved by the Roman Catholic Archbishop of Boston, the endowment assets are 

invested in a manner that is intended to produce an inflation-adjusted return in excess of the approved 

quarterly spending rate over a long period of time.  Actual returns in any given year will vary and actual 

spending may exceed the quarterly dividend distributions. 

Strategies Employed for Achieving Objectives 

To satisfy its long-term rate-of-return objectives, the Corporation Sole relies on a total return strategy in 

which investment returns are achieved through both capital appreciation (realized and unrealized) and 

current yield (interest and dividends).  The majority of endowment investments are invested in the Common 

Investment Fund, which in-turn invests in the Collective Investment Partnership.  The Investment 

Committee of the Roman Catholic Archbishop of Boston’s Finance Council is responsible for selecting the 

investment managers of the Collective Investment Partnership.  The Investment Committee’s investment 

rationale is to include an array of different strategies and investment managers for the Collective Investment 

Partnership’s portfolio to reduce overall volatility while providing investment returns above industry 

benchmarks. 

Spending Policy 

It is the policy of the Roman Catholic Archbishop of Boston to appropriate for distribution on a quarterly 

basis 1% of the net assets of the endowment as of the previous quarter-end.  In establishing this policy, the 

Corporation Sole considered the long-term expected return on its endowments.  Accordingly, over the long 

term, the Corporation Sole expects the impact of the current spending policy to allow its endowments 

(including unspent appreciation) to grow at a nominal rate.  This is consistent with the Corporation Sole’s 

objective to maintain the purchasing power of the endowment assets held in perpetuity as well as to provide 

additional real growth through new gifts and investment return.  Actual distributions from the endowments 

may exceed the quarterly dividend. 
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Endowment net asset composition as of June 30 is as follows: 

Temporarily Permanently
Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total

Donor restricted endowments:

    Endowments (117)$             2,509$           8,645$           11,037$         

    Beneficial interest in The Catholic

        Community Fund -                     3,274             26,878           30,152           

    Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts -                     -                     5,106             5,106             

(117)$             5,783$           40,629$         46,295$         

June 30, 2016

 

Temporarily Permanently
Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total

Donor restricted endowments:

    Endowments (75)$               3,168$           8,503$           11,596$         

    Beneficial interest in The Catholic

        Community Fund -                     5,734             26,710           32,444           

    Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts -                     -                     4,955             4,955             

(75)$               8,902$           40,168$         48,995$         

June 30, 2015
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Changes in endowment net assets for the years ended June 30 are as follows: 

Temporarily Permanently
Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total

Endowment net assets,

    beginning of year (75)$               8,902$           40,168$         48,995$         

Contributions and bequests -                     -                     185                185                

Change in interest in net assets of a 

    foundation -                     (2,555)            132                (2,423)            

Change in beneficial interest in perpetual trusts -                     -                     151                151                

Investment return

    Investment income 14                  300                -                     314                

    Net depreciation (40)                 (676)               -                     (716)               

                      Total investment return (26)                 (376)               -                     (402)               

Appropriation of endowment assets for

    operations (draw) (10)                 (186)               -                     (196)               

Other changes

    Net asset reclassification (6)                   (2)                   (7)                   (15)                 

Endowment net assets, end of year (117)$             5,783$           40,629$         46,295$          

Temporarily Permanently
Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total

Endowment net assets,

    beginning of year (79)$               10,430$         39,100$         49,451$         

Contributions and bequests -                     -                     1,360             1,360             

Change in interest in net assets of a 

    foundation -                     (1,390)            459                (931)               

Change in beneficial interest in perpetual trusts -                     -                     (148)               (148)               

Investment return

    Investment income -                     357                -                     357                

    Net depreciation -                     (173)               -                     (173)               

                      Total investment return -                     184                -                     184                

Appropriation of endowment assets for

    operations (draw) -                     (322)               -                     (322)               

Other changes

    Net asset reclassification 4                    -                     (603)               (599)               

Endowment net assets, end of year (75)$               8,902$           40,168$         48,995$         

June 30, 2015
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9. RESERVES FOR LOSSES 

The Corporation Sole has substantially exhausted its insurance coverage for clergy misconduct claims and 

is now self-insured for this risk of loss.  The ultimate cost to defend or settle these claims is subject to 

uncertainty and the estimated liability is subject to change.  The nature and the magnitude of the potential 

effects of these claims could have a material impact on Corporation Sole’s financial condition and cash 

flows. 

At both June 30, 2016 and 2015, the Corporation Sole’s reserve for estimated future settlements was 

$5,100, which is included in the reserves for losses in the accompanying statements of financial position.  

During the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, the Corporation Sole entered into settlement agreements 

with 16 and 25 individuals, respectively, who had brought sexual misconduct claims requiring aggregate 

payments of $1,044 and $1,730, respectively. 

The Corporation Sole and related organizations are partially self-insured for various risks incidental to the 

normal course of its activities.  Such risks include general liability claims, theft losses and sudden 

accidental occurrences to boilers and related equipment.  At June 30, 2016 and 2015, the Corporation Sole’s 

reserve for these self-insurance losses was $3,173 and $3,353, respectively, which is included in the 

reserves for losses in the accompanying statements of financial position. 

10. OTHER LIABILITIES 

On July 18, 2012, the Corporation Sole entered into a purchase and sale agreement, which is included in 

other liabilities, relating to the sale of a chapel property in exchange for $11,000 in cash and the 

construction of a replacement chapel property.  The $11,000 is to be paid in three installments of $3,000 

due in October 2012, July 2014 and July 2016 and a final installment of $2,000 due at closing.  Corporation 

Sole received the first and second $3,000 installments in October 2012 and July 2014.  These amounts are 

included in other liabilities in the statement of financial position as of June 30, 2016 and 2015, 

respectively.  The third payment of $3,000 was received subsequent to year end in July 2016.  These 

payments are considered refundable to the purchaser subject to certain conditions if the agreement is 

terminated prior to closing.  Closing is expected to occur in early 2017.    

11. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

Construction 

The Corporation Sole has commitments to fund future construction and other contracted costs in the amount 

of $10,224 and $9,904 at June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. 

Other Legal Proceedings 

The Corporation Sole is involved in various legal proceedings arising out of and incidental to its activities 

other than claims of sexual misconduct discussed in Note 9.  In management’s opinion, the ultimate liability 

which may arise from these proceedings is not expected to have a material effect on the Corporation Sole’s 

net assets, changes in net assets and cash flows. 

Page 48 of 84



ROMAN CATHOLIC ARCHBISHOP OF BOSTON, 
a CORPORATION SOLE 
Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2016 and 2015 
(Dollars in thousands) 

- 25 - 

Guarantees 

On October 7, 2009, Matignon High School, Inc. (“Matignon”), a related organization, entered into a 

$4,025 loan agreement with a bank for leasehold improvements to a building owned by the Corporation 

Sole and a $200 line of credit for working capital purposes.  Performance on these loan agreements is 

guaranteed by the Corporation Sole under a non-recourse guarantee agreement amended on June 27, 2011 

and is secured by a mortgage on the Matignon real property owned by Corporation Sole.  On June 27, 2011, 

Matignon entered into an additional $1,050 loan with the bank, also guaranteed by the Corporation Sole. 

Performance on this loan agreement is guaranteed by Corporation Sole on a full recourse guarantee and also 

secured by a mortgage on the real property owned by Corporation Sole.  The outstanding balances on the 

line of credit and loans totaled $4,746 and $5,060 at June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.  The estimated 

fair value of the land and buildings exceeds the loan amount.  Matignon is current on its debt payments.  As 

such, the fair value of the loan guarantee is zero and has not been recorded as a liability by Corporation 

Sole. 

On February 11, 2010, Cathedral High School, Inc. (“Cathedral”), a related organization, entered into a 

$12,000 loan agreement with a bank for leasehold improvements to a building owned by the Corporation 

Sole.  Performance on this loan agreement is guaranteed on a non-recourse basis by the Corporation Sole. 

The guaranty is secured by a mortgage on the Cathedral real property owned by Corporation Sole and 

recourse is limited to the aforementioned land and building which it owns and leases to Cathedral.  The 

outstanding balance on the loan was $1,752 and $1,790 at June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.  The 

estimated fair value of the land and building exceeds the loan amount.  Cathedral is current on its debt 

payments.  As such, the fair value of the loan guarantee is zero and has not been recorded as a liability by 

Corporation Sole. 

On October 22, 2010, Cardinal Spellman High School, Inc. (“Cardinal Spellman”), a related organization, 

entered into a $3,200 loan agreement with a bank for leasehold improvements to a building owned by the 

Corporation Sole.  Performance on this loan agreement is guaranteed on a non-recourse basis by the 

Corporation Sole.  The guarantee is secured by a mortgage on the Cardinal Spellman real property owned 

by Corporation Sole and recourse is limited to the aforementioned land and building which it owns and 

leases to Cardinal Spellman.  The outstanding balance on the loan was $2,850 and $2,907 at June 30, 2016 

and 2015, respectively.  The estimated fair value of the land and building exceeds the loan amount.  

Cardinal Spellman is current on its debt payments.  As such, the fair value of the loan guarantee is zero and 

has not been recorded as a liability by Corporation Sole. 

On September 20, 2013, Archbishop Williams High School, Inc. (“Archbishop Williams”), a related 

organization, entered into a $6,500 loan agreement with a bank.  From the loan proceeds, $3,800 was used 

to pay off prior indebtedness, including $3,246 on a loan balance due to the Corporation Sole.  The 

remaining proceeds are to be used for leasehold improvements to a building owned by the Corporation 

Sole.  Performance on this loan agreement is guaranteed on a non-recourse basis by Corporation Sole.  The 

guarantee is secured by a mortgage on the Archbishop Williams real property owned by Corporation Sole 

and recourse is limited to the aforementioned land and building, which it owns and leases to Archbishop 

Williams.  The outstanding balance on the loan was $6,401 and $6,500 at June 30, 2016 and 2015, 

respectively.  The estimated fair value of the land and building exceeds the loan amount.  Archbishop 

Williams is current on its debt payments.  As such, the fair value of the loan guarantee is zero and has not 

been recorded as a liability by Corporation Sole. 

Page 49 of 84



ROMAN CATHOLIC ARCHBISHOP OF BOSTON, 
a CORPORATION SOLE 
Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2016 and 2015 
(Dollars in thousands) 

- 26 - 

12. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 

The Corporation Sole’s financial assets that are accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis as of 

June 30, 2016 and 2015 are presented in the tables below.  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair 

value on a non-recurring basis are excluded from the tables. 

Quoted Prices Significant Other Significant Measured at

in Active Markets Observable Inputs Unobservable Inputs Net Asset
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Value Total

Short-term investments 7,483$                     6,904$                     -     $                          -     $              14,387$         

Investments in common investment fund -                               -                               -                                 107,636         107,636         

Investment in fixed income fund -                               -                               -                                 35,244           35,244           

Common stock securities 6,063                       -                               -                                 -                     6,063             

Fixed income securities -                               3,163                       -                                 -                     3,163             
Money market funds -                               3,219                       -                                 -                     3,219             

                      Total investments 13,546                     13,286                     -                                 142,880         169,712         
Beneficial interest in trusts -                               -                               6,230                         -                     6,230             

                      Total 13,546$                   13,286$                   6,230$                       142,880$       175,942$       

June 30, 2016

 

Quoted Prices Significant Other Significant Measured at

in Active Markets Observable Inputs Unobservable Inputs Net Asset

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Value Total

Short-term investments 7,303$                  7,968$                  -     $                     -     $           15,271$       

Investments in common investment fund -                          -                          -                            113,838       113,838       

Investment in fixed income fund -                          -                          -                            53,667         53,667         

Common stock securities 6,248                    -                          -                            -                 6,248           

Fixed income securities -                          1,923                    -                            -                 1,923           
Money market funds -                          941                      -                            -                 941             

                      Total investments 13,551                  10,832                  -                            167,505       191,888       
Beneficial interest in trusts -                          -                          4,955                     -                 4,955           

                      Total 13,551$                10,832$                4,955$                    167,505$      196,843$      

June 30, 2015

 

Certain investments that are measured at fair value using the net asset value per share (or its equivalent) 

practical expedient have not been categorized in the fair value hierarchy above.  The fair value amounts 

presented in this table are intended to permit reconciliation of the fair value hierarchy to the amounts 

presented in the statements of financial position. 
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The following table presents a reconciliation of assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis using 

significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) during the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015: 

2016 2015

Balance at beginning of year 4,955$           3,799$           

Transfers -                     195                

Additions 1,542             1,120             

Unrealized depreciation (267)               (159)               

Balance at end of year 6,230$           4,955$            

Corporation Sole recognizes transfers between fair value hierarchy levels at the measurement date.  There 

were no transfers between levels within the fair value during the year. 

13. BENEFIT PLANS 

Lay Employee Pension Plan 

The Corporation Sole is a participant with other related Archdiocesan organizations in a pension plan 

covering substantially all lay employees, the Roman Catholic Archdiocese of Boston Pension Plan (the 

“Pension Plan”), that has been characterized for financial accounting purposes as a multiemployer pension 

plan, a noncontributory benefit plan established by the Corporation Sole.  The risks of participating in a 

multiemployer plan are different from single-employer plans in the following aspects: 

 Assets contributed to the multiemployer plan by one employer may be used to provide benefits to 

employees of other participating employers. 

 If a participating entity stops contributing to the multiemployer plan, the unfunded obligations of 

the plan may be borne by the remaining participating entities. 

 If an entity petitions to stop participating in the multiemployer plan, the entity may be required to 

pay the plan a withdrawal liability based on the funded status of the plan. 

These aspects of multiemployer plan participation are consistent with the manner of administration of the 

Pension Plan.  These aspects are not required by law but are part of the Pension Plan’s administrative 

practices.  Neither the financial accounting treatment of the Pension Plan, nor its administrative practices, 

nor this footnote shall be deemed a representation that the Pension Plan is subject to any laws that require 

the multiemployer attributes that are set forth above. 

The Pension Plan is designed to provide retirement benefits for eligible lay employees of Corporation Sole 

and participating related Archdiocesan organizations.  Effective December 31, 2011, per a vote of the 

Pension Plan Trustees, the Pension Plan was amended to freeze the accrual of additional benefits.  Under 

the provision of the amendment, employees hired after December 1, 2010, are not eligible to become 
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participants in the Pension Plan.  Employees with five or more years of service as of December 31, 2011 

remain vested.  Employees with at least one year of service as of December 31, 2011, will be allowed to 

continue to add years of service towards vesting after the freeze date. 

The Corporation Sole’s retirement plan expense is equal to the required annual contributions to the Pension 

Plan, which is calculated based upon actuarially determined methods.  Amounts charged to pension costs 

for the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015 totaled $4,752 and $4,773, respectively, and are included in the 

accompanying combined statements of activities.  Required annual contributions represent greater than five 

percent of total net contributions to the Pension Plan. 

The following table discloses the name and funded status of the Pension Plan as of June 30, 2016 (the date 

of the latest actuarial valuation), inclusive of the fair value of plan assets as of June 30, 2016: 

Actuarial 

Present

Value of Fair Value 

Accumulated of Plan Total Net Funded

Plan Number Plan EIN Plan Benefits Assets Contributions Status

Roman Catholic

    Archdiocese of

    Boston Pension

    Plan, Number 001 04-2777359 237,365$       191,880$    7,436$           Greater than 80%  

The Corporation Sole reserves the right to discontinue contributions at any time and terminate the Pension 

Plan.  In the event of termination and discontinuance, the assets of the Pension Plan remaining after paying 

all administrative expenses of the Pension Plan will be allocated in accordance with the terms of the Roman 

Catholic Archdiocese of Boston Pension Plan for the purpose of paying benefits provided under the Pension 

Plan. 

The accumulated benefit obligation net of the plan assets of the Pension Plan is not required to be and 

therefore is not reflected in the accompanying statements of financial position. 

Employee 401(k) Plan 

On January 1, 2012, the Corporation Sole created a 401(k) defined contribution plan (the “Plan”).  The 

Corporation Sole participates with other Catholic organizations in this plan, for whom the record keeper is 

TIAA-CREF.  Eligible lay employees and incardinated priests of the Archdiocese of Boston may elect to 

make retirement savings contributions to the Plan, which were matched by the Corporation Sole up to 4% 

and 2% of employee compensation for the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.  Employee 

benefit costs associated with this Plan amounted to $2,501 and $1,816 for the years ended June 30, 2016 

and 2015, respectively. 
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Lay Employee Health and Dental Benefit Plan 

The Corporation Sole participates with other related Archdiocesan organizations in a health and dental plan 

that is offered to all eligible lay employees known as the Roman Catholic Archdiocese of Boston Health 

Benefit Plan (the “Health Plan”).  The Corporation Sole’s employees represent approximately 61% of all 

lay employees covered under the Health Plan.  The Health Plan agreement provides that the participating 

employers make monthly contributions to the Health Plan of a specified amount for each class of employee.  

The Corporation Sole’s contributions to the Health Plan amounted to $19,789 and $19,488 for the years 

ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. 

At June 30, 2016, the audited financial statements of the Health Plan reflected $2,626 in health and dental 

benefit obligations and $17,479 in net assets available for benefits.  At June 30, 2015, the audited financial 

statements of the Health Plan reflected $2,148 in health and dental benefit obligations and $20,507 in net 

assets available for benefits.   

Clergy Health and Retirement Plans 

Archdiocese of Boston Clergy Health and Retirement Trust 

Benefits for priests incardinated in the Archdiocese of Boston who are in good standing within the norms of 

Canon Law (“Eligible Priests”) are provided through the Archdiocese of Boston Clergy Health and 

Retirement Trust (the “CHRT”), which represents collectively all trusts, as they may exist from time to 

time, that provide for the health, welfare, disability, and retirement of Eligible Priests.  The CHRT includes 

the financial position and activities of the Archdiocese of Boston Clergy Benefit Funding Trust (the 

“Funding Trust”), the Archdiocese of Boston Clergy Retirement Trust (the “Retirement Trust”), the 

Archdiocese of Boston Clergy Medical/Hospitalization Trust (the “Medical Trust”) and the Archdiocese of 

Boston Regina Cleri Trust (“Regina Cleri Trust”).  Effective July 1, 2014 the Regina Cleri Trust was 

established as the fourth trust under CHRT.  The Cardinal Archbishop of Boston, as the Corporation Sole, 

assigned and transferred all of RCAB’s membership interest in Regina Cleri, Incorporated (“Regina Cleri”) 

to the Regina Cleri Trust, and the Trustees of CHRT have accepted such assignment and transfer.  None of 

the included trusts are subject to the provisions of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 

(ERISA).  As a result of this transaction in fiscal 2015, $10,901 of net assets were added to CHRT and this 

increase is reflected in the statement of activities in nonoperating pension related credits. 

The Roman Catholic Archbishop of Boston, by virtue of his office, is responsible for providing for health, 

welfare, disability and retirement for Eligible Priests.  He appoints the Board of Trustees of the Clergy 

Health and Retirement Trust, but does not serve as a Trustee.  

The Board of Trustees assists the Archbishop of Boston in his responsibilities to Eligible Priests by 

administering the CHRT.  The Trustees are authorized and empowered to manage the assets of and benefits 

provided by the CHRT as deemed necessary. 

The Roman Catholic Archbishop of Boston has elected to fulfill his obligation to Eligible Priests through 

the Retirement Trust by offering a single-employer, noncontributory, defined benefit retirement and 

disability plan.  Benefits for priests who are on administrative leave and who are in canonical process as a 

result of accusations of misconduct with a minor are not covered by the Retirement Trust, but are paid 

directly by Corporation Sole and the obligation is reflected in the Administrative Leave obligation. 
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The Clergy Health and Retirement Trust also offers other post-retirement benefits, including health, dental 

and subsistence benefits which are expected to be paid to or on behalf of currently retired clergy and active 

clergy after retirement. 

The Clergy Health and Retirement Trust’s primary source of funding benefits is from special collections 

from parishes in the Archdiocese of Boston and health assessments to parishes and other Catholic 

organizations within the Archdiocese of Boston.  The collections are initially held in the Funding Trust.  

Funds are transferred from the Funding Trust to the Medical Trust and the Retirement Trust at the 

discretion of the Trustees. 

Reserve for Health Insurance Claims 

At June 30, 2016 and 2015, the audited financial statements of the Clergy Health and Retirement Trust 

reflected $558 and $501, respectively, of health and dental benefit obligations. 

The reserve for health insurance claims consists of medical and dental claims payable for benefits provided 

to Eligible Priests.  Obligations for health claims incurred by Eligible Priests but not reported are estimated 

by management based on historical experience. 

Benefit Trust for Non-Incardinated Priests Duly Assigned for Service in the Archdiocese of Boston 

The Corporation Sole sponsors a noncontributory pension benefit plan covering ordained priests who were 

not incardinated in the Archdiocese of Boston, but who have been duly assigned by the Roman Catholic 

Archbishop of Boston for service within the Archdiocese of Boston for a minimum period of at least ten 

years and who are in good standing within the norms of Canon Law.  Benefits are provided through The 

Benefit Trust for Non-Incardinated Priests Duly Assigned for Service in the Archdiocese of Boston (the 

“Non-Incardinated Trust”).  The Non-Incardinated Trust is not subject to the provisions of the Employee 

Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA).  Effective July 1, 2010, the accrual of benefits under the 

Non-Incardinated Trust were frozen.  Any non-incardinated priest receiving a pension or entitled to receive 

a pension from the Archdiocese of Boston will be paid under the terms of the Non-Incardinated Trust 

documents dated April 14, 1992 and frozen, effective July 1, 2010.  Non-incardinated priests that began 

service in the Archdiocese of Boston after July 1, 2010 or did not have a minimum of ten years of service in 

the Archdiocese of Boston at that time shall not be entitled to a pension for the years he is present or 

assigned. Rather, his own superior must make suitable provision for his pension. 
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The assets and obligations of Corporation Sole’s clergy retirement and other post-retirement benefits were 

as follows as of June 30: 

Benefit Obligations 

Non-

Incardinated Admin Admin

CHRT Trust Leave CHRT Leave Total

Change in benefit obligation:

    Benefit obligation at 

        beginning of year 74,179$   1,367$          5,667$     34,637$   2,666$     118,516$ 

    Service cost 1,047       13                 -              828          -              1,888       

    Interest cost 3,184       58                 240          1,626       122          5,230       

    Actuarial (gain) loss 6,103       177               (355)        4,025       (533)        9,417       

    Benefits and other expenses paid (6,633)     (136)              (819)        (1,861)     (232)        (9,681)     

    

    Benefit obligation at end of year 77,880$   1,479$          4,733$     39,255$   2,023$     125,370$ 

Pension Benefits Other Benefits

For the Year Ended June 30, 2016

 

Non-

Incardinated Admin Admin

CHRT Trust Leave CHRT Leave Total

Change in benefit obligation:

    Benefit obligation at 

        beginning of year 81,142$   1,410$          6,215$     35,971$   2,861$     127,599$ 

    Service cost 1,405       12                 -              961          -              2,378       

    Interest cost 3,374       58                 255          1,639       128          5,454       

    Actuarial (gain) loss (4,918)     56                 (143)        (2,107)     (98)          (7,210)     

    Benefits and other expenses paid (6,824)     (169)              (660)        (1,827)     (225)        (9,705)     

    

    Benefit obligation at end of year 74,179$   1,367$          5,667$     34,637$   2,666$     118,516$ 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2015

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
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The weighted average assumptions used to determine all benefit obligations were as follows: 

2016 2015 2016 2015

Discount rate 3.86 % 4.49 % 4.06 % 4.81 %

Rate of compensation increase N/A N/A N/A N/A

Health care cost trend rate assumed 

    for next year N/A N/A 6.00 % 6.50 %

Rate to which the cost trend rate is 

   assumed to decline (ultimate trend 

   rate) N/A N/A 4.50 % 4.50 %

Year that the rate reaches the ultimate 

    trend rate N/A N/A 2020 2020

Pension Benefits Other Benefits

 

Plan Assets 

Non-

Incardinated Admin Admin

CHRT Trust Leave CHRT Leave Total

Change in Plan assets

    Fair value of Plan assets 

        at beginning of year 55,643$       468$                 -$            -$            -$            56,111$       

            Actual return on Plan assets,

                net of administrative expense (2,653)         (40)                    819              1,861           232              219              

            Employer contributions 9,268           -                        (819)            (1,861)         (232)            6,356           

            Benefits and other

                expenses paid (6,633)         (136)                  -                  -                  -                  (6,769)         

    Fair value of Plan assets

        at end of year 55,625$       292$                 -$            -$            -$            55,917$       

For the Year Ended June 30, 2016

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
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Non-

Incardinated Admin Admin

CHRT Trust Leave CHRT Leave Total

Change in Plan assets

    Fair value of Plan assets 

        at beginning of year 43,447$   646$             -     $       -     $       -     $       44,093$   

            Actual return on Plan assets,

                net of administrative expense (1,326)     (9)                  660          1,827       225          1,377       

            Employer contributions 9,445       -                    (660)        (1,827)     (225)        6,733       

            Benefits and other

                expenses paid (6,824)     (169)              -              -              -              (6,993)     

            *Other - transfer of net assets 10,901     -                    -              -              -              10,901     

    Fair value of Plan assets

        at end of year 55,643$   468$             -     $       -     $       -     $       56,111$   

For the Year Ended June 30, 2015

Pension Benefits Other Benefits

 

* Effective July 1, 2014 the Regina Cleri Trust was established as the fourth trust under CHRT.  The Cardinal Archbishop of 

Boston, as the Corporation Sole, assigned and transferred all of RCAB’s membership interest in Regina Cleri, Incorporated 

(“Regina Cleri”) to the Regina Cleri Trust, and the Trustees of CHRT have accepted such assignment and transfer.  The amount 

of the transferred net assets was $10,901. 

The asset allocation for the Clergy Health and Retirement Trust as of June 30, and the target allocation for 

2016, by asset category, are as follows: 

Target
2016 2016 2015

Mutual funds 61.5 % 60.7 % 59.7 %

Real estate* 23.9 % 23.9 % 24.7 %

Cash and cash equivalents 14.6 %              15.4 %              15.6 %              

                      Total 100.0 %            100.0 %            100.0 %            

% of Plan Assets at Year End

 

* Real estate is valued at book value and is leased to a related party. 

The investment policy and strategy is to provide for long term growth relative to the long term liabilities 

while seeking to earn returns consistent with conservative management by investing assets based on the 

target allocations stated above.  The Clergy Health and Retirement Trust will reallocate its investments 

periodically to meet the above target allocations.  The Clergy Health and Retirement Trust also reviews its 

investments periodically to determine if the policy or allocations should be changed. 
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During fiscal year 2016, CHRT invested in the RCAB Collective Investment Partnership and the Fixed 

Income Fund. 

Included in The Clergy Health and Retirement Trust investments are the Collective Investment Partnership 

and the Fixed Income Fund holdings with values of $29,092 and $4,698, respectively, at June 30, 2016.  

Included in The Clergy Health and Retirement Trust investments are certificates of deposit and mutual 

funds with market values of $3,010 and $30,190, respectively, at June 30, 2015.  Other assets and liabilities 

included in plan assets that are not measured at fair value include cash and cash equivalents and real estate. 

The target asset allocation for the Non-Incardinated Trust for fiscal year 2016 was 100% in cash and cash 

equivalents and the actual allocation at June 30, 2016 was 100% in cash and cash equivalents.  Certificates 

of deposit of $227 and $251 as of June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, are valued based upon level 2 

inputs in the fair value hierarchy.   

Reconciliation of Funded Status 

Non-

Incardinated Admin Admin

CHRT Trust Leave CHRT Leave Total

Fair value of plan assets 55,625$       292$                 -$            -$            -$            55,917$       

Benefit obligation (77,880)       (1,479)               (4,733)         (39,815)       (2,023)         (125,930)     

           Unfunded status - obligation (22,255)$     (1,187)$             (4,733)$       (39,815)$     (2,023)$       (70,013)$     

As of June 30, 2016

Pension Benefits Other Benefits

 

Non-

Incardinated Admin Admin

CHRT Trust Leave CHRT Leave Total

Fair value of plan assets 55,643$   468$             -     $       -     $       -     $       56,111$   

Benefit obligation (74,179)   (1,367)           (5,667)     (35,138)   (2,666)     (119,017) 

           Unfunded status - obligation (18,536)$ (899)$            (5,667)$   (35,138)$ (2,666)$   (62,906)$ 

As of June 30, 2015

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
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Components of Net Periodic Pension Cost 

Non-

Incardinated Admin Admin

CHRT Trust Leave CHRT Leave Total

Service cost for benefits earned

    during the period 1,047$     13$               -     $       828$        -     $       1,888$     

Interest cost on projected benefit

    obligation 3,184       58                 240          1,626       122          5,230       

Expected return on Plan assets (3,405)     (4)                  -              -              -              (3,409)     

Net amortization and deferral (848)        105               218          (1,528)     89            (1,964)     

           Net periodic pension cost (22)$        172$             458$        926$        211$        1,745$     

For the Year Ended June 30, 2016

Pension Benefits Other Benefits

 

Non-

Incardinated Admin Admin

CHRT Trust Leave CHRT Leave Total

Service cost for benefits earned

    during the period 1,405$     12$               -     $       961$        -     $       2,378$     

Interest cost on projected benefit

    obligation 3,374       58                 255          1,639       128          5,454       

Expected return on Plan assets (2,604)     (6)                  -              -              -              (2,610)     

Net amortization and deferral (848)        97                 246          (1,571)     104          (1,972)     

           Net periodic pension cost 1,327$     161$             501$        1,029$     232$        3,250$     

For the Year Ended June 30, 2015

Pension Benefits Other Benefits

 

Accumulated Amounts Charged (Credited) to Unrestricted Net Assets 

Non-

Incardinated Admin Admin

CHRT Trust Leave CHRT Leave Total

Net actuarial loss (gain) 8,154$              620$                 2,390$              (16,406)$          621$                 (4,621)$            

Prior service cost (credit) (3,934)              -                        -                        (1,928)              -                        (5,862)              

                      Total 4,220$              620$                 2,390$              (18,334)$          621$                 (10,483)$          

As of June 30, 2016

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
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Non-

Incardinated Admin Admin

CHRT Trust Leave CHRT Leave Total

Net actuarial loss (gain) (4,006)$            505$                 2,964$              (21,531)$          1,243$              (20,825)$          

Prior service cost (credit) (4,782)              -                        -                        (2,357)              -                        (7,139)              

                      Total (8,788)$            505$                 2,964$              (23,888)$          1,243$              (27,964)$          

As of June 30, 2015

Pension Benefits Other Benefits

 

During the year ending June 30, 2016, $848 of the accumulated amounts credited to non-operating income 

were amortized into operating expenses. 

The weighted average assumptions used to determine the Clergy Health and Retirement Trust benefit plan 

costs were as follows: 

2016 2015 2016 2015

Discount rate 4.49% 4.34% 4.81% 4.66%

Rate of compensation increase N/A N/A N/A N/A

Expected return on plan assets 6.50% 6.50% N/A N/A

Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year N/A N/A 6.0% 6.5%

Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to 

    decline (ultimate trend rate) N/A N/A 4.5% 4.5%

Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate N/A N/A 2020 2020

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
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The weighted average assumptions used to determine the Administrative Leave and Non-Incardinated 

Trusts benefit plans costs were as follows: 

2016 2015 2016 2015

Discount rate 4.49% 4.34% 4.81% 4.66%

Rate of compensation increase N/A N/A N/A N/A

Expected return on plan assets 1.00% 1.00% N/A N/A

Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year N/A N/A 6.0% 6.5%

Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to 

    decline (ultimate trend rate) N/A N/A 4.5% 4.5%

Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate N/A N/A 2020 2020

Pension Benefits Other Benefits

 

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the health care 

plans.  A one percentage point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following 

effects on the Clergy Health and Retirement Trust: 

2016 2015 2016 2015

Effect on service and interest cost 478$              407$              (373)$             (311)$             

Effect on benefit obligation 6,257             5,154             (5,012)            (4,169)            

Point Increase Point Decrease

Other Benefits

One Percentage

Other Benefits

One Percentage

 

To determine the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets, the Clergy Health and Retirement Trust 

considered the historical returns of the major market indicators relating to the target asset allocation, as well 

as the current economic and financial market conditions. 
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Expected Benefit Payments 

Clergy Clergy Non- Admin Admin

Funds Funds Incardinated Leave Leave

Pension Other Pension Pension Other
Benefits Benefits Benefits Benefits Benefits Total

Years Ending June 30

2017 6,355$       1,696$       135$          579$          175$          8,940$       

2018 6,247         1,800         125            542            175            8,889         

2019 6,067         1,867         115            506            173            8,728         

2020 5,906         1,938         106            470            171            8,591         

2021 5,743         1,998         118            435            166            8,460         

2022 - 2026 26,185       10,668       495            1,702         747            39,797        

14. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

Revenue from Service Provided 

The Corporation Sole provides administrative, accounting, technology and clerical services to related 

Catholic organizations.  Fees charged for providing these services were $4,788 and $4,382 during the years 

ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.  The revenue from these services is included in revenue from 

services provided in the accompanying statements of activities. 

Boston Catholic Development Services 

The Corporation Sole utilizes BCDS to provide all centralized fundraising services, including the annual 

Catholic Appeal, planned giving and other fundraising activities.  Amounts paid for these services 

amounted to $2,793 and $2,895 for the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. 

Catholic Schools Foundation 

The Catholic Schools Foundation, Inc., a related organization, provides support to Catholic schools located 

in the Archdiocese of Boston.  During the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, this foundation awarded 

$2,889 and $2,914, respectively, in inner city scholarships and support to schools that are operated by the 

Corporation Sole’s parishes.  The foundation also awarded grants totaling $20 and $845 for the years ended 

June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively to the Corporation Sole’s Catholic Schools Office to further support 

school programs coordinated by that office. 

Fides Insurance Group, Inc. 

The Corporation Sole contributed capital of $150 and $1,442 to Fides Insurance Group, Inc. (as previously 

discussed in note 9) for the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.  The Corporation Sole 

recognized a nonoperating loss of $544 for the year ended June 30, 2016 related to its investment in Fides.  

The Corporation Sole also remitted property insurance premiums totaling $2,999 and $2,834 for the years 

ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

ON SUPPLEMENRARY INFORMATION 

His Eminence 

Cardinal Sean Patrick O’Malley, O.F.M. Cap. 

The Roman Catholic Archbishop of Boston 

 

 

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, the 

combined financial statements of the Roman Catholic Archbishop of Boston, a Corporation Sole (the “Corporation 

Sole”) as of and for the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, and our report thereon dated December 22, 2016 

expressed an unmodified opinion on those financial statements.  

The accompanying supplementary information is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required 

part of the combined financial statements.  Such supplementary information is the responsibility of management 

and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 

combined financial statements.  The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audits 

of the combined financial statements and certain additional procedures.  These additional procedures included 

comparing and reconciling the information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare 

the combined financial statements or to the combined financial statements themselves, and other additional 

procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.  In our 

opinion, the supplementary information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the combined financial 

statements as a whole.  

 
 

Boston, Massachusetts 

December 22, 2016 

 

 
 

Grant Thornton LLP 
75 State Street, 13th Floor 
Boston, MA 02109 
 

T 617.723.7900 
F 617.723.3640 
www.GrantThornton.com 
linkd.in/GrantThorntonUS  
twitter.com/GrantThorntonUS  

 

 

 

Grant Thornton LLP 

U.S. member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd 
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Central 2016 2015

Parishes Operations Self-Insurance Eliminations Total Total

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents

    Parish operations 69,373$       -     $           -     $           -     $           69,373$       69,833$       

    Revolving loan fund 1,616           -                 -                 -                 1,616           3,037           

    Central operations -                 4,309           -                 -                 4,309           5,328           

    Insurance operations -                 -                 2,434           -                 2,434           2,097           

    Parish reconfiguration -                 1,672           -                 -                 1,672           2,074           
    Deposits with the Revolving Loan Fund -                 4,182           -                 (4,182)          -                 -                 

                      Total cash and cash equivalents 70,989         10,163         2,434           (4,182)          79,404         82,369         

Interest and dividends receivable, net 1,184           125             1                 -                 1,310           1,302           

Prepaid expenses and other assets 3,191           5,497           2,056           -                 10,744         9,299           

Accounts receivable, net 4,947           1,532           229             (79)              6,629           6,958           

Contributions receivable, net 5,882           1,773           -                 -                 7,655           2,358           

Loans and notes receivable, net 19,950         1,620           5                 (1,800)          19,775         16,032         

Land and buildings held for sale 1,035           251             -                 -                 1,286           1,394           

Investments 157,113       12,453         146             -                 169,712       191,888       

Interest in net assets of a foundation 3,942           28,968         -                 -                 32,910         35,796         
Land, buildings and equipment, net 478,928       38,260         -                 -                 517,188       510,489       

                      Total assets 747,161$      100,642$      4,871$         (6,061)$        846,613$      857,885$      

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

LIABILITIES

    Accounts payable and accrued expenses 19,058$       4,255$         376$            (216)$          23,473$       26,144$       

    Agency obligations 1,143           763             -                 -                 1,906           1,791           

    Reserves for losses -                 5,100           3,173           -                 8,273           8,453           

    Due to related organizations 16,514         4,191           436             (4,194)          16,947         19,461         

    Deferred revenue and support 16,583         1,293           -                 -                 17,876         20,120         

    Accrued pension and other post retirement benefits 63,256         6,757           -                 -                 70,013         62,906         

    Other liabilities 3,955           6,532           -                 -                 10,487         9,557           
    Note payable - related organizations -                 37,408         800             (1,800)          36,408         36,408         

                      Total liabilities 120,509       66,299         4,785           (6,210)          185,383       184,840       

NET ASSETS

    Unrestricted 586,266       (11,279)        86               149             575,222       586,009       

    Temporarily restricted 28,033         17,346         -                 -                 45,379         46,868         
    Permanently restricted 12,353         28,276         -                 -                 40,629         40,168         

                      Total net assets 626,652       34,343         86               149             661,230       673,045       

                      Total liabilities and net assets 747,161$      100,642$      4,871$         (6,061)$        846,613$      857,885$      
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Central 2016 2015

Parishes Operations Self-Insurance Eliminations Total Total

REVENUES AND OTHER SUPPORT

    Collections 116,946$       2,250$           -     $                 -     $              119,196$       117,955$       

    Collections - clergy benefits 11,129           -                     -                        -                     11,129           11,272           

    Catholic Appeal -                     15,849           -                        -                     15,849           14,765           

    Contributions and bequests 30,794           3,558             -                        (2,389)            31,963           28,640           

    Parish fundraiser events, net 13,485           -                     -                        -                     13,485           13,866           

    Tuition and fees 107,771         313                -                        -                     108,084         108,220         

    Investment income 4,499             1,428             7                       (40)                 5,894             6,536             

    Rental income 14,780           258                -                        -                     15,038           15,038           

    Cemetery operations 4,668             -                     -                        -                     4,668             4,628             

    Revenue from services provided -                     12,738           -                        (7,950)            4,788             4,382             

    Insurance premium revenue -                     -                     3,633                (2,534)            1,099             1,289             
    Sacramental offerings 7,930             -                     -                        -                     7,930             7,815             
    Other revenues 13,179           124                -                        (1,933)            11,370           11,671           
    Change in interest in net assets of a foundation (175)               (2,746)            -                        -                     (2,921)            (462)               
    Net assets released from restrictions and reclassifications -                     -                     -                        -                     -                     -                     

                      Total revenues and other support 325,006         33,772           3,640                (14,846)          347,572         345,615         

EXPENSES
    Program
        Parish life and leadership 183,515         5,169             -                        (9,470)            179,214         182,098         

        Catholic education 128,192         3,233             -                        (342)               131,083         127,138         

        Faith formation and evangelization -                     4,666             -                        (78)                 4,588             4,764             

        Health and social services 2,491             2,630             -                        -                     5,121             3,987             

        Central and regional services -                     4,020             -                        (143)               3,877             3,691             

        Media and public relations -                     601                -                        -                     601                677                
        Cemetery operations 4,754             2                    -                        -                     4,756             4,605             

                      Total program expenses 318,952         20,321           -                        (10,033)          329,240         326,960         

    Management and general 614                18,571           6,214                (5,686)            19,713           19,422           

    Fundraising -                     2,793             -                        -                     2,793             2,895             
    Parish reconfiguration -                     1,467             -                        (45)                 1,422             1,442             

                      Total expenses 319,566         43,152           6,214                (15,764)          353,168         350,719         

                      Operating income (loss) 5,440             (9,380)            (2,574)               918                (5,596)            (5,104)            

NONOPERATING INCOME (LOSS)

    Contributions 11,614           350                -                        -                     11,964           8,302             

    Contributions from related organizations -                     -                     -                        -                     -                     3,859             

    Net assets released from restrictions -                     -                     -                        -                     -                     -                     

    Net realized and unrealized loss on investments (6,953)            (1,099)            (326)                  -                     (8,378)            (1,906)            

    Gain on sale of other land and buildings 5,118             3,420             -                        -                     8,538             17,757           

    Insurance and other recoveries 1,460             -                     3,520                (1,358)            3,622             4,206             

    Settlements and related expenses (418)               (4,560)            -                        560                (4,418)            (4,900)            

    Pension-related credits (charges) other than 
        periodic pension costs (18,735)          1,195             -                        -                     (17,540)          12,169           

                      Nonoperating (loss) income (7,914)            (694)               3,194                (798)               (6,212)            39,487           

                      Change in net assets (2,474)            (10,074)          620                   120                (11,808)          34,383           

Net assets at beginning of year 629,111         44,439           (534)                  29                  673,045         638,662         

Net asset transfers 15                  (22)                 -                        -                     (7)                   -                     

Net assets at end of year 626,652$       34,343$         86$                   149$              661,230$       673,045$       

Note: This schedule does not include net asset classifications. See pages 43 - 45.
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Central 2016 2015

Parishes Operations Self-Insurance Eliminations Total Total

REVENUES AND OTHER SUPPORT

    Collections 116,946$      52$             -     $           -     $           116,998$      115,845$      

    Catholic Appeal -                 15,545         -                 -                 15,545         14,416         

    Contributions and bequests 23,700         1,765           -                 (2,389)          23,076         17,647         

    Parish fundraiser events, net 13,485         -                 -                 -                 13,485         13,866         

    Tuition and fees 107,771       313             -                 -                 108,084       108,220       

    Investment income 4,137           1,226           7                 (40)              5,330           5,939           

    Rental income 14,780         258             -                 -                 15,038         15,038         

    Cemetery operations 4,668           -                 -                 -                 4,668           4,628           

    Revenue from services provided -                 12,738         -                 (7,950)          4,788           4,382           

    Insurance premium revenue -                 -                 3,633           (2,534)          1,099           1,289           

    Sacramental offerings 7,930           -                 -                 -                 7,930           7,815           
    Other revenues 13,179         128             -                 (1,933)          11,374         11,671         
    Change in interest in net assets of a foundation 3                 (8)                -                 -                 (5)                418             
    Net assets released from restrictions and reclassifications 15,828         3,722           -                 -                 19,550         27,642         

                      Total revenues and other support 322,427       35,739         3,640           (14,846)        346,960       348,816       

EXPENSES
    Program
        Parish life and leadership 183,515       5,169           -                 (9,470)          179,214       182,098       
        Catholic education 128,192       3,233           -                 (342)            131,083       127,138       

        Faith formation and evangelization -                 4,666           -                 (78)              4,588           4,764           

        Health and social services 2,491           2,630           -                 -                 5,121           3,987           

        Central and regional services -                 4,020           -                 (143)            3,877           3,691           

        Media and public relations -                 601             -                 -                 601             677             
        Cemetery operations 4,754           2                 -                 -                 4,756           4,605           

                      Total program expenses 318,952       20,321         -                 (10,033)        329,240       326,960       

    Management and general 614             18,571         6,214           (5,686)          19,713         19,422         

    Fundraising -                 2,793           -                 -                 2,793           2,895           
    Parish reconfiguration -                 1,467           -                 (45)              1,422           1,442           

                      Total expenses 319,566       43,152         6,214           (15,764)        353,168       350,719       

                      Operating income (loss) 2,861           (7,413)          (2,574)          918             (6,208)          (1,903)          

NONOPERATING INCOME (LOSS)

    Contributions -                 587             -                 -                 587             -                 

    Contributions from (to) related organizations -                 -                 3,859           

    Net assets released from restrictions 12,563         -                 -                 -                 12,563         6,318           

    Net realized and unrealized loss on investments (6,953)          (652)            (326)            -                 (7,931)          (1,718)          

    Gain on sale of land and buildings 5,118           3,420           -                 -                 8,538           17,757         

    Insurance and other recoveries 1,460           -                 3,520           (1,358)          3,622           4,206           

    Settlements and related expenses (418)            (4,560)          -                 560             (4,418)          (4,900)          

    Pension-related credits (charges) other than 
        periodic pension costs (18,735)        1,195           -                 -                 (17,540)        12,169         

                      Nonoperating (loss) income (6,965)          (10)              3,194           (798)            (4,579)          37,691         

                      Change in net assets (4,104)          (7,423)          620             120             (10,787)        35,788         

Net assets at beginning of year 590,348       (3,834)          (534)            29               586,009       550,221       

Net asset transfers 22               (22)              -                 -                 -                 -                 

Net assets at end of year 586,266$      (11,279)$      86$             149$            575,222$      586,009$      
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Central 2016 2015

Parishes Operations Self-Insurance Eliminations Total Total

REVENUES AND OTHER SUPPORT

    Collections -     $              2,198$           -     $              -     $              2,198$           2,110$           

    Collections - clergy benefits 11,129           -                     -                     -                     11,129           11,272           

    Catholic Appeal -                     304                -                     -                     304                349                

    Contributions and bequests 7,094             1,793             -                     -                     8,887             10,993           

    Investment income 362                202                -                     -                     564                597                

    Other revenues -                     (4)                   -                     -                     (4)                   -                     

    Change in interest in net assets of a foundation (184)               (2,864)            -                     -                     (3,048)            (1,339)            

    Net assets released from restrictions and reclassifications (15,821)          (3,722)            -                     -                     (19,543)          (27,039)          

                      Total revenues and other support 2,580             (2,093)            -                     -                     487                (3,057)            

                      

                      Operating income (loss) 2,580             (2,093)            -                     -                     487                (3,057)            

NONOPERATING INCOME (LOSS)

    Contributions 11,041           -                     -                     -                     11,041           7,090             

    Net assets released from restrictions and reclassifications (12,563)          -                     -                     -                     (12,563)          (6,318)            

    Net realized and unrealized loss on investments -                     (447)               -                     -                     (447)               (188)               

                      Nonoperating (loss) income (1,522)            (447)               -                     -                     (1,969)            584                

                      

                      Change in net assets 1,058             (2,540)            -                     -                     (1,482)            (2,473)            

Net assets at beginning of year 26,982           19,886           -                     -                     46,868           49,341           

Net asset transfers (7)                   -                     -                     -                     (7)                   -                     

Net assets at end of year 28,033$         17,346$         -     $              -     $              45,379$         46,868$         
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Central 2016 2015

Parishes Operations Self-Insurance Eliminations Total Total

REVENUES AND OTHER SUPPORT

    Contributions and bequests -     $              -     $              -     $              -     $              -     $              -     $              

    Other revenues -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

    Change in interest in net assets of a foundation 6                    126                -                     -                     132                459                

    Net assets released from restrictions and reclassifications (7)                   -                     -                     -                     (7)                   (603)               

                      Total revenues and other support (1)                   126                -                     -                     125                (144)               

                      

                      Operating income (loss) (1)                   126                -                     -                     125                (144)               

NONOPERATING INCOME (LOSS)

    Contributions 573                (237)               -                     -                     336                1,212             

                      Nonoperating (loss) income 573                (237)               -                     -                     336                1,212             

                      

                      Change in net assets 572                (111)               -                     -                     461                1,068             

Net assets at beginning of year 11,781           28,387           -                     -                     40,168           39,100           

Net assets at end of year 12,353$         28,276$         -     $              -     $              40,629$         40,168$         
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SECTION 5 – Lay Compensation and Vendor Expenditure Disclosure 

Included this year with the release of this report is the Lay Compensation and Vendor 

Expenditure Disclosure which is modeled after the Internal Revenue Service Form 990. This 

report provides visibility into the compensation of the Corporation Sole's Lay Officers, Cabinet 

Members, and five highest compensated employees (other than Officers or Cabinet Members), 

as well as the five highest paid vendors.  Compensation data is provided for the calendar year 

which ends within the fiscal period reported in the consolidated financial statements.  

Therefore, for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2016, the compensation information presented is 

for calendar year 2015. 

This report also includes the compensation data of Boston Catholic Development Services, Inc. 

(BCDS). BCDS is a related organization that provides centralized fundraising services to the 

Corporation Sole and other related organizations. The Corporation Sole engages BCDS to 

provide fundraising services for the annual Catholic Appeal and other fundraising activities 

(please see Note 14 included in the financial statements, supplementary schedules and reports 

of independent certified public accountants in Section 4 of this financial report). 

Reportable Compensation from Corporation Sole and BCDS represents the gross wages for the 

named individual.  Amount of Other Compensation Not Included in W‐2/1099 includes medical 

premiums paid by Corporation Sole and BCDS for the benefit of the lay employees, and the 

employer portion of life and LTD insurance and pension/401(k) costs paid by Corporation Sole 

and BCDS for lay employees.  

All Central Ministries and BCDS lay employees earning less than $150,000 received a 1% cost of 

living increase effective July 1, 2015.  
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Name and Title

Average

Hours

per

Week

Reportable 

Compensation 

from Central 

Ministries

Reportable 

Compensation 

from Parishes

Total Reportable

Compensation

from Corporation 

Sole

Reportable

Compensation

from Boston 

Catholic 

Development 

Services, Inc.

Amount of 

Other 

Compensation 

Not Included on 

W‐2/1099

Mr. John E. Straub 40+ $234,450  N/A $234,450  N/A $18,948 

Mr. F. Beirne Lovely, Jr., Esq. 40+ $285,858  N/A $285,858  N/A $30,905 

Mr. Terrence Donilon 40+ $171,983  N/A $171,983  N/A $23,325 

Ms. Kathleen Mears 40+ $250,347  N/A $250,347  N/A $867 

Ms. Kathleen Driscoll 40+ N/A N/A N/A $286,290  $9,686 

Ms. Janet Benestad [2] 40+ $191,845  N/A $191,845  N/A $18,905 

Mr. Peter Cataldo, PhD [3] 40+ $226,290  N/A $226,290  N/A $8,914 

Mr. Mark Dunderdale 40+ $206,450  N/A $206,450  N/A $29,158 

Mr. James Walsh 40+ $191,240  N/A $191,240  N/A $27,927 

Mr. Francis O'Connor 40+ $186,090  N/A $186,090  N/A $27,563 

Ms. Mary Doorley 40+ N/A N/A N/A $183,990  $11,291 

Five Highest Compensated Independent Contractors Who Received More Than $100,000:

Vendor Services Provided

Reportable Compensation from 

Corporation Sole

Amount of Other Compensation 

Not Included on Form 1099

Lay Compensation and Vendor Expenditure Disclosure [1]

December 31, 2015

Position

Assistant Clerk, Chancellor

Assistant Clerk, General Counsel

Secretary for Faith Formation and 

Evangelization

Secretary for Communications & 

Public Affairs

Secretary for Education

Secretary for Institutional 

Advancement

Officers:

Cabinet (Other than Officers):

Former Officers and Council Members Whose Reportable Compensation is Greater Than $100,000:

[2] Ms. Benestad relinquished the role of Secretary for Faith Formation and Evangelization effective July 13, 2015.

[3] Central Ministries is fully reimbursed for Mr. Cataldo's compensation and benefit costs by Steward Health Care System LLC pursuant to a Stewardship agreement 

entered into in connection with Steward's 2010 acquisition of substantially all of the assets of the Caritas Christi Health Care System.

4. Deiulis Brothers Construction Co. Construction $2,168,790  $0 

Total number of compensated independent contractors who received more than $100,000:  118

5. Palanza Group, Inc. Construction $2,128,199  $0 

[1] It should be noted that there were 26 pay periods in 2015 vs. 26.5 pay periods in 2014 due to a pay period change in 2014.

Five Highest Compensated Employees (Other than Officers and Cabinet Members):

Vice‐President of Development

Boston Catholic Development 

Services, Inc.

2. William Gallagher Associates Insurance Broker $3,340,684  $0 

$0 

CY2015 Total number of individuals other than current officers, council members, former council members and highest compensated employees who received more than $100,000 

in reportable compensation from Corporation Sole: 43

Associate School Superintendent

Asst. General Counsel

1. Santini, Inc. Construction $4,628,175 

3. Willis Group Insurance Broker $2,997,054  $0 

Chief Healthcare Ethicist

Director of the Office of Professional 

Standards and Oversight
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SECTION 6 – Compensation Committee Report 

ANNUAL REPORT OF THE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE OF 
THE ARCHDIOCESAN FINANCE COUNCIL 

I. BACKGROUND 
The Compensation Committee continued to promote and support a compensation philosophy 
consistent with the values of our Archdiocese, ensuring the Archdiocese is able to attract and 
retain quality talent and enhancing the missions and ministries of the Church with the limited 
resources available.  During its fifth year of operation, the Compensation Committee identified 
steps that can be taken to maintain consistency between our compensation philosophy and our 
pay practices, and reviewed the progress accomplished to date on the newly implemented system 
linking pay with performance. 

II. ACTIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS
In addition to reviewing salary survey information, the Committee reviewed the compensation of 
several positions and made specific recommendations to the Cardinal during the course of the 
year. 

A. Based on current salaries, no recommendation was made to adjust current pay levels 
for members of the senior lay executive group whose salary was at or above the high 
end of the target range identified by the Committee.  

B. The survey data and salary ranges developed by the Committee remain in place in 
connection with promotions and new hires. Since the Compensation Committee was 
formed, there have been two promotions within, and there have been three new hires 
into, the senior lay executive group. All five individuals are paid within the desired 
pay ranges established by the Compensation Committee. 

C. The Committee reviewed performance feedback for the senior lay executives. 

Members of the Compensation Committee: 

Mary L. Ryan, Chair  
John H. McCarthy, Vice Chair, Finance Council  
Brian P. Concannon  
Rev. Michael E. Drea  
Rev. James J. Ronan 
Paul W. Sandman 
Leo V. Sullivan 

December, 2016 
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SECTION 7 – Related Organizations 

Compendium of Audited Financial Statements of Corporation Sole Related Organizations 

Set	forth	below	is	a	list	of	organizations	sponsored	by	the	Corporation	Sole	or	for	which	the	
Corporation	Sole	or	the	Roman	Catholic	Archbishop	of	Boston	(the	“Archbishop”)	has	the	
direct	or	indirect	right	(whether	alone	or	in	conjunction	with	others)	to	elect	or	appoint	
officers,	directors,	trustees,	governors	and/or	members	(collectively,	“Related	
Organizations”).	Each	Related	Organization	is	separately	incorporated	or	constitutes	a	
separate	trust	or	partnership	and	none	of	them	are	consolidated	with	Corporation	Sole	for	
financial	statement	purposes.	

For financial reports provided by the Related Organizations, please visit our website at 
http://www.bostoncatholic.org and click on the Offices & Services tab and click on Finance, listed by 
category. Thank you.  

Listing of Related Organizations 

Catholic Media and Evangelization 
iCatholic Media, Inc. 

Cemeteries 
Catholic Cemetery Association of the Archdiocese of Boston, Inc. (The) 
Catholic Cemetery Association Perpetual Care Trust (The) 

Education 
Archbishop Williams High School, Inc. 
Bishop Fenwick High School, Inc. 
Boston Boy Choir, Inc. 
Cardinal Spellman High School, Inc. 
Cathedral High School, Inc. 
Cristo Rey Boston High School, Inc. 
Lawrence Catholic Academy of Lawrence, Massachusetts, Inc. 
Lowell Catholic High School, Inc. 
Marian High School, Inc. 
Matignon High School, Inc. 
Pope John XXIII High School, Inc. 
Quincy Catholic Academy of Quincy, Massachusetts, Inc. 
St. Columbkille School, Inc. 
St. John Paul II Catholic Academy, Inc. 
St. Mary's High School, Inc. 
St. Sebastian's School, Inc. 
Ste. Jean d’Arc School of Lowell, Massachusetts, Inc. 
Trinity Catholic Academy, Inc. 
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Development 
Boston Catholic Development Services, Inc. 
Catholic Community Fund of the Archdiocese of Boston, Inc. (The) 
Catholic Health Foundation of Greater Boston, Inc. 
Catholic Schools Foundation, Inc. (The) 
Cristo Rey Work Study Program, Inc. 
Fund for Catholic Schools, Inc. (The) (aka Campaign for Catholic Schools) 
St. Mary's High School Foundation, Inc. 
St. Sebastian's School Fund, Inc. 

Health, Retirement & Investment Trusts 
Benefit Trust for Non-Incardinated Priests Duly Assigned for Service in the Archdiocese of Boston 
Common Investment Fund, Roman Catholic Archbishop of Boston 
Fixed Income Investment Fund, RCAB 
Pension Plan & Trust of the Roman Catholic Archdiocese of Boston 
RCAB Collective Investment Partnership 
RCAB 401k Retirement Savings Plan 
Roman Catholic Archdiocese of Boston Health Benefit Trust 
Roman Catholic Archdiocese of Boston Life Insurance and Accidental Death, Dismemberment & Long-
Term Disability Insurance Trust 
Roman Catholic Archdiocese of Boston Transition Assistance Program Trust 

Ministerial 
Pope St. John XXIII National Seminary, Inc. 
Redemptoris Mater House of Formation, Inc. 
St. John's Seminary 

Mission Related 
Missionary Society of St. James the Apostle (The) 
Society for Propagation of the Faith of Boston, Inc. (The)  

Social Service 
Catholic Charitable Bureau of the Archdiocese of Boston, Inc. 
Catholic Social Services, Inc. 
Irish Pastoral Centre of the Archdiocese of Boston, Inc. (The) 
Life Resources, Inc. 
Office of Outreach, Assistance, Education and Prevention of the Archdiocese of Boston, Inc. (The) 
Planning Office for Urban Affairs, Inc. 
St. Ann's Home, Inc. 
St. Mary’s Center for Women and Children, Inc. 
*TAS-CC, Inc.
*TAS-CSEMCB, Inc.
*TAS-CSH, Inc.
*St. Margaret’s Hospital for Women

Insurance 
Fides Insurance Group, Inc. 
Massachusetts Catholic Self-Insurance Group, Inc. 
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Other Related Organizations 
Archdiocese of Boston Clergy Benefit Funding Trust 
Archdiocese of Boston Clergy Medical / Hospitalization Trust 
Archdiocese of Boston Clergy Retirement Trust 
Archdiocese of Boston Regina Cleri Trust 
Regina Cleri, Inc. 
Massachusetts Catholic Conference, Inc. 

*As of November 5, 2010, TAS-CC, Inc. (formerly Caritas Christi) and its affiliated health care entities
sold substantially all of their assets used in the operation of a health care system to Steward Healthcare 
System LLC (“Steward”).  As a result, although the assets were transferred to Steward, almost all of the 
corporate entities initially remained directly or indirectly under the control of Corporation Sole or the 
Archbishop.  Prior to June 30, 2015, certain of those corporate entities were either merged or dissolved. 
Each of the asterisked entities that were formerly Caritas Christi entities remain in existence. Each of the 
asterisked entities is separately incorporated and none of them is consolidated with Corporation Sole for 
financial reporting purposes. 
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SECTION 8 – Corporation Sole Parishes 

COMPENDIUM OF FINANCIAL REPORTS OF CORPORATION SOLE PARISHES 

For financial reports provided by the parishes of the Archdiocese of Boston, please visit our website at 
http://www.bostoncatholic.org and click on the Offices & Services tab and click on Finance, listed 
alphabetically. Thank you.  

Parishes of the Archdiocese of Boston 

City/Town Parish 

Abington Saint Bridget Parish
Acton Saint Elizabeth of Hungary Parish 
Allston Saint Anthony Parish 
Amesbury Holy Family Parish 
Andover Saint Augustine Parish 
Andover Saint Robert Bellarmine Parish 
Arlington Saint Agnes Parish 
Arlington Saint Camillus Parish 
Ashland Saint Cecilia Parish
Avon Saint Michael Parish 
Ayer Saint Mary Parish 
Bedford Saint Michael Parish 
Bellingham Saint Brendan Parish 
Bellingham Saint Blaise Parish
Belmont Saint Joseph Parish 
Belmont Saint Luke Parish 
Beverly Saint Mary Star of the Sea Parish 
Beverly Saint John the Evangelist Parish 
Beverly Farms  Saint Margaret Parish 
Billerica Saint Mary Parish 
Billerica Saint Theresa of Lisieux Parish 
Boston Cathedral of the Holy Cross Parish 
Boston Saint Cecilia Parish
Boston Saint James the Greater Parish 
Boston Saint Leonard of Port Maurice Parish 
Boston Saint Joseph Parish 
Bradford Sacred Hearts Parish 
Braintree Saint Clare Parish 
Braintree Saint Francis of Assisi Parish 
Braintree Saint Thomas More Parish 
Bridgewater Saint Thomas Aquinas Parish 
Brighton Saint Columbkille Parish 
Brockton Our Lady of Lourdes Parish 
Brockton Saint Patrick Parish 
Brockton Saint Edith Stein Parish 
Brockton Christ the King Parish 
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Brookline Saint Mary of the Assumption Parish 
Burlington Saint Margaret Parish 
Burlington Saint Malachy Parish 
Cambridge Saint Anthony Parish 
Cambridge Saint Francis of Assisi Parish 
Cambridge Saint John the Evangelist Parish 
Cambridge Saint Mary of Annunciation Parish 
Cambridge Saint Paul Parish 
Cambridge Saint Peter Parish 
Cambridge Sacred Heart of Jesus Parish 
Canton Saint Gerard Majella Parish 
Canton Saint John the Evangelist Parish 
Carlisle Saint Irene Parish 
Carver Our Lady of Lourdes Parish 
Charlestown Saint Francis de Sales Parish 
Charlestown St Mary - St Catherine 
Chelmsford Saint Mary Parish 
Chelsea Our Lady of Grace Parish 
Chelsea Saint Rose of Lima Parish 
Chelsea Saint Stanislaus Parish 
Cohasset Saint Anthony Parish 
Concord Holy Family Parish 
Danvers Saint Mary of the Annunciation Parish 
Danvers Saint Richard of Chichester Parish 
Dedham Saint Mary Parish 
Dedham Saint Susanna Parish 
Dorchester Saint Ambrose Parish 
Dorchester Saint Ann Parish 
Dorchester Saint Brendan Parish 
Dorchester Saint Christopher Parish 
Dorchester Saint Gregory Parish 
Dorchester Saint Mark Parish 
Dorchester Saint Matthew Parish 
Dorchester Holy Family Parish 
Dorchester Saint Peter Parish 
Dorchester Blessed Mother Teresa of Calcutta Parish 
Dover Most Precious Blood Parish 
Dracut Saint Francis of Assisi Parish 
Dracut Saint Marguerite D'Youville Parish 
Duxbury Holy Family Parish 
E Bridgewater Saint John the Evangelist Parish 
East Boston Saint Joseph - St Lazarus Parish 
East Boston Most Holy Redeemer Parish 
East Boston Our Lady of the Assumption Parish 
East Boston Sacred Heart Parish 
East Walpole Saint Mary Parish 
East Weymouth Saint Albert the Great Parish 
East Weymouth Immaculate Conception Parish 
Essex Saint John the Baptist Parish 
Everett Saint Anthony of Padua Parish 
Everett Immaculate Conception Parish 
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Foxboro Saint Mary Parish 
Framingham Saint Bridget Parish 
Framingham Saint George 
Framingham Saint Stephen Parish 
Framingham Saint Tarcisius Parish 
Franklin Saint Mary Parish 
Georgetown Saint Mary Parish 
Gloucester Our Lady of Good Voyage Parish 
Gloucester Holy Family Parish 
Green Harbor Our Lady of the Assumption Parish 
Hanover Saint Mary Sacred Heart Parish 
Hanson Saint Joseph the Worker Parish 
Haverhill Saint James Parish 
Haverhill Saint John the Baptist Parish 
Haverhill All Saints Parish 
Hingham Saint Paul Parish 
Hingham Resurrection Parish 
Holbrook Saint Joseph Parish 
Holliston Saint Mary Parish 
Hopkinton Saint John the Evangelist Parish 
Hudson Saint Michael Parish 
Hull Saint Mary of the Assumption Parish 
Hyde Park Most Precious Blood Parish 
Ipswich Our Lady of Hope Parish 
Jamaica Plain Our Lady of Lourdes Parish 
Jamaica Plain Saint Thomas Aquinas Parish 
Kingston Saint Joseph Parish 
Lakeville Saints Martha and Mary Parish 
Lawrence Saint Patrick Parish 
Lawrence Saint Mary of the Assumption Parish 
Lawrence Corpus Christi Parish 
Lexington Saint Brigid Parish 
Lexington Sacred Heart Parish 
Littleton Saint Anne Parish 
Lowell Saint Anthony Parish 
Lowell Holy Trinity Parish 
Lowell Immaculate Conception Parish 
Lowell Saint Margaret Parish 
Lowell Holy Family Parish 
Lowell Saint Michael Parish 
Lowell Saint Patrick Parish 
Lowell Saint Rita Parish 
Lynn Holy Family Parish 
Lynn Saint Joseph Parish 
Lynn Saint Mary Parish 
Lynn Saint Pius V Parish 
Lynnfield Saint Maria Goretti Parish 
Lynnfield Our Lady of the Assumption Parish 
Malden Immaculate Conception Parish 
Malden Saint Joseph Parish 
Malden Sacred Hearts Parish 
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Manchester-by-the-Sea Sacred Heart Parish 
Manomet Saint Bonaventure Parish 
Marblehead Our Lady Star of the Sea Parish 
Marlboro Immaculate Conception Parish 
Marlboro Saint Matthias Parish 
Marshfield Saint Ann By the Sea Parish 
Marshfield Saint Christine Parish 
Mattapan Saint Angela Merici Parish 
Maynard Saint Bridget Parish 
Medfield Saint Edward the Confessor Parish 
Medford Saint Francis of Assisi Parish 
Medford Saint Joseph Parish 
Medford Saint Raphael Parish 
Medford Saint Clement Parish 
Medway Saint Joseph Parish 
Melrose Incarnation Parish 
Melrose Saint Mary of the Annunciation Parish 
Merrimac Holy Redeemer Parish 
Methuen Our Lady of Good Counsel Parish 
Methuen Saint Lucy Parish 
Methuen Saint Monica Parish 
Middleboro Sacred Heart Parish 
Middleton Saint Agnes Parish 
Millis Saint Thomas the Apostle Parish 
Milton Saint Agatha Parish 
Milton Saint Elizabeth Parish 
Milton Saint Mary of the Hills Parish 
Milton Saint Pius Tenth Parish 
Monponsett Our Lady of the Lake Parish 
Nahant Saint Thomas Aquinas Parish 
Natick Saint Linus Parish 
Natick Saint Patrick Parish 
Needham Saint Bartholomew Parish 
Needham Saint Joseph Parish 
Newburyport Immaculate Conception Parish 
Newton Corpus Christi-Saint Bernard Parish 
Newton Saint Ignatius Loyola Parish 
Newton Our Lady Help of Christians Parish 
Newton Sacred Heart Parish 
Newton 
Newton Upper Falls  

Saint Antoine Daveluy 
Mary Immaculate of Lourdes Parish 

Norfolk Saint Jude Parish 
North Andover Saint Michael Parish 
North Billerica Saint Andrew Parish 
North Chelmsford  Saint John the Evangelist Parish 
North Reading Saint Theresa of Lisieux Parish 
North Weymouth  Saint Jerome Parish 
Norwell Saint Helen Parish 
Norwood Saint Catherine of Siena Parish 
Norwood Saint Timothy Parish 
Peabody Saint Adelaide Parish 
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Peabody Saint Ann Parish 
Peabody Saint John the Baptist Parish 
Peabody Saint Thomas the Apostle Parish 
Peabody Our Lady of Fatima Parish 
No Pembroke Saint Thecla Parish 
Pepperell Our Lady of Grace 
Plainville Saint Martha Parish 
Plymouth Saint Mary Parish 
Plymouth Saint Peter Parish 
Plymouth Saint Kateri Tekakwitha Parish 
Point Shirley Holy Rosary Parish 
Quincy Saint John the Baptist Parish 
Quincy Saint Joseph Parish 
Quincy Sacred Heart Parish 
Quincy Holy Trinity Parish 
Randolph Saint Bernadette Parish 
Randolph Saint Mary Parish 
Reading Saint Agnes Parish 
Reading Saint Athanasius Parish 
Readville Saint Anne Parish 
Revere Immaculate Conception Parish 
Revere Saint Mary of the Assumption Parish 
Revere Saint Anthony of Padua Parish 
Rockland Holy Family Parish 
Roslindale Sacred Heart Parish 
Roxbury Saint Mary of the Angels Parish 
Roxbury Our Lady of Perpetual Help Parish 
Roxbury Saint Patrick Parish 
Roxbury St. Katharine Drexel Parish 
Salem Saint Anne Parish 
Salem Immaculate Conception Parish 
Salem Saint James Parish 
Salem Saint John the Baptist Parish 
Salisbury Star of the Sea Parish 
Saugus Blessed Sacrament Parish 
Saugus Saint Margaret Parish 
Scituate Saint Mary of the Nativity Parish 
Sharon Our Lady of Sorrows Parish 
Sherborn Saint Theresa of Lieieux Parish 
Shirley Saint Anthony Parish 
Somerville Saint Ann Parish 
Somerville Saint Anthony Parish 
Somerville Saint Benedict Parish 
Somerville Saint Catherine of Genoa Parish 
Somerville Patronage of Saint Joseph Parish 
South Boston Saint Brigid Parish 
South Boston Gate of Heaven Parish 
South Boston Saint Monica-St Augustine Parish 
South Boston Our Lady of Czestochowa Parish 
South Boston Saint Peter Parish 
South Boston Saint Vincent De Paul Parish 
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South Hamilton Saint Paul Parish 
South Weymouth  Saint Francis Xavier Parish 
Stoneham Saint Patrick Parish 
Stoughton Immaculate Conception Parish 
Stoughton Saint James Parish 
Stow Saint Isidore Parish 
Sudbury Our Lady of Fatima Parish 
Swampscott Saint John the Evangelist Parish 
Tewksbury Saint William Parish 
Topsfield Saint Rose of Lima Parish 
Townsend Saint John the Evangelist Parish 
Tyngsboro Saint Mary Magdalen Parish 
Wakefield Saint Florence Parish 
Wakefield Saint Joseph Parish 
Wakefield Most Blessed Sacrament Parish 
Walpole Blessed Sacrament Parish 
Waltham Saint Charles Borromeo Parish 
Waltham Saint Jude Parish 
Waltham Saint Mary Parish 
Waltham Our Lady Comforter of Afflicted Parish 
Waltham Sacred Heart Parish 
Watertown Saint Patrick Parish 
Watertown Sacred Heart Parish 
Wayland Good Shepherd Parish 
Wellesley Saint Paul Parish 
Wellesley Hills Saint John the Evangelist Parish 
West Bridgewater  Saint Ann Parish 
West Lynn Sacred Heart Parish 
West Quincy Saint Mary Parish 
West Roxbury Holy Name Parish 
West Roxbury Saint John Chrysostom Parish 
West Roxbury Saint Theresa of Avila Parish 
Westford Saint Catherine of Alexandria Parish 
Weston Saint Julia Parish 
Westwood Saint Denis Parish 
Westwood Saint Margaret Mary Parish 
Weymouth Sacred Heart Parish 
Whitman Holy Ghost Parish 
Wilmington Saint Dorothy Parish 
Wilmington Saint Thomas of Villanova Parish 
Winchester Saint Eulalia Parish 
Winchester Saint Mary Parish 
Winthrop Saint John the Evangelist Parish 
Woburn Saint Anthony of Padua Parish 
Woburn Saint Barbara Parish 
Woburn Saint Charles Borromeo Parish 
Wollaston Saint Ann Parish 
Wrentham Saint Mary Parish 
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